

Dottorato di ricerca in Biomedicina, Neuroscienze e Diagnostica Avanzata Dipartimento di Biomedicina, Neuroscienze e Diagnostica avanzata (BI.N.D.)

SSD BIO/16

Production and in vivo evaluation of a new potential anti-cachexia drug based on Hsp60-containing nanovesicles

DOTTORE

Filippo Giambalvo

IL COORDINATORE

Chiar.mo. Prof. FABIO BUCCHIERI

IL TUTOR

Chiar.ma Prof.ssa VALENTINA DI FELICE

CICLO XXXV ANNO CONSEGUIMENTO TITOLO 2023

Table of contents

INTRODUCTION	3
1.1 Extracellular Vesicles (EVs)	5
1.1.1 Apoptotic bodies (ApoBDs) biogenesis	7
1.1.2 Microvescicles (MVs) biogenesis and release	8
1.1.3 Exosomes (EXs) biogenesis and release	10
1.2 Skeletal muscle	12
1.2.1 Muscle molecular homeostasis	15
1.3 Muscle and cachexia	17
1.3.1 Cachexia treatments and training like treatment	20
1.4 Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma coactivator (PGC-1 $lpha$)	24
1.5 Satellite cells and role of MyoD	25
1.6 Heat shock proteins (HSPs)	27
1.6.1 Heat shock protein 60 (Hsp60)	
1.6.2 Hsp60 in Skeletal Muscle	29
Research Aims	
MATERIALS AND METHODS	31
	JI
2.1 Cell culture	
2.1 Cell culture 2.2 Physiactisome production (C2C12 trasfection with elettroporation)	
 2.1 Cell culture 2.2 Physiactisome production (C2C12 trasfection with elettroporation) 2.3 Immunofluorescence for electroporated C2C12 	
 2.1 Cell culture 2.2 Physiactisome production (C2C12 trasfection with elettroporation) 2.3 Immunofluorescence for electroporated C2C12 2.4 C2C12 Protein extraction 	
 2.1 Cell culture 2.2 Physiactisome production (C2C12 trasfection with elettroporation) 2.3 Immunofluorescence for electroporated C2C12 2.4 C2C12 Protein extraction 2.5 Nanovesicles Isolation 	
 2.1 Cell culture 2.2 Physiactisome production (C2C12 trasfection with elettroporation) 2.3 Immunofluorescence for electroporated C2C12 2.4 C2C12 Protein extraction 2.5 Nanovesicles Isolation 2.6 Western Blot 	
 2.1 Cell culture. 2.2 Physiactisome production (C2C12 trasfection with elettroporation) 2.3 Immunofluorescence for electroporated C2C12. 2.4 C2C12 Protein extraction. 2.5 Nanovesicles Isolation. 2.6 Western Blot 2.7 Scanning and transmission electron microscopy (STEM). 	
 2.1 Cell culture. 2.2 Physiactisome production (C2C12 trasfection with elettroporation) 2.3 Immunofluorescence for electroporated C2C12. 2.4 C2C12 Protein extraction. 2.5 Nanovesicles Isolation. 2.6 Western Blot. 2.7 Scanning and transmission electron microscopy (STEM). 2.8 In vivo model. 	
 2.1 Cell culture. 2.2 Physiactisome production (C2C12 trasfection with elettroporation) 2.3 Immunofluorescence for electroporated C2C12. 2.4 C2C12 Protein extraction. 2.5 Nanovesicles Isolation. 2.6 Western Blot. 2.7 Scanning and transmission electron microscopy (STEM). 2.8 In vivo model. 2.9 Gastrocnemius (GA) hematoxylin-eosin staining. 	
 2.1 Cell culture. 2.2 Physiactisome production (C2C12 trasfection with elettroporation) 2.3 Immunofluorescence for electroporated C2C12. 2.4 C2C12 Protein extraction. 2.5 Nanovesicles Isolation. 2.6 Western Blot. 2.7 Scanning and transmission electron microscopy (STEM). 2.8 In vivo model. 2.9 Gastrocnemius (GA) hematoxylin-eosin staining. 2.10 Gastrocnemius western blot analysis. 	
 2.1 Cell culture 2.2 Physiactisome production (C2C12 trasfection with elettroporation) 2.3 Immunofluorescence for electroporated C2C12 2.4 C2C12 Protein extraction	
 2.1 Cell culture	
 2.1 Cell culture	
 2.1 Cell culture	

3.4 Western blot nanovesicles characterization	. 44
3.5 Hystologial comparation response to treatment in vivo	. 45
3.6 Molecular response to the treatment: Hsp60 expression	. 48
3.7 Molecular response to the treatment: PGC-1 and Myo-d expression	. 49
Discussion	. 51
Conclusion	. 54
References	. 55

INTRODUCTION

Cachexia is a multifactorial metabolic disorder it is associated with reduced physical function, reduced tolerance to anticancer therapy, and reduced survival (Fearon K. et al., 2011; Stubbins R. et al., 2020). Has been recognized that the onset and course of cachexia are always linked to the presence of serious underlying pathological conditions like; chronic diseases (Yoshida T et al., 2015), cancer (Wolf I et al., 2006; Fearon K. et al., 2011; Kasprzak A 2021), malnutrition, heart disease, AIDS (Chang HR et al., 1998), multiple sclerosis (Burfeind KG et al., 2016), other progressive and degenerative diseases (Wang YX. et al., 2014), including autoimmune (An HJ et al., 2020). The prevalence of cachexia is as high as 87% in patients with pancreatic and gastric cancer, and 61% in patients with colon, lung, and prostate cancer (Dewys W.D. et al., 1980; Ni J. et al., 2020). The adverse effects of cachexia cannot be completely mitigated through conventional nutritional support alone, resulting in gradual functional deterioration (Fearon K. et al., 2011; Maccio A. et al., 2021). Recent research indicates that exercise can partially preserve muscle mass in various cachectic conditions. This preservation occurs not only due to exercise's anti-inflammatory and antioxidant properties but also its capacity to modulate autophagy (Bowen TS et al., 2015; Pigna E. et al., 2016). Increased physical activity protects skeletal muscle from atrophy, and has been observed to stimulate Peroxisomeactivated receptor gamma coactivator 1-alpha (PGC-1a) expression, which promotes fibertype switching from glycolytic toward more oxidative fibers (Sandri M. et al., 2006). PGC- 1α is also directly involved in the mitochondrial biosynthesis of muscle cells and this activity is regulated by heat shock protein 60 (Hsp60), which increases during physical activity and activates PGC1a (Barone R. et al., 2016). Furthermore, scientific evidence demonstrates that following physical training, the promotion of myogenesis is observed in adults (Ultimo S. et al., 2018; Sailani MR. et al., 2019; Chen J. et al., 2022). Myo-D activity contributes to the upregulation of the expression of several miRNAs during myogenesis (Ultimo S. et al., 2018), such as miR152-3p, an inhibitor of the proliferation of mesenchymal stem cells (Msc) which contributes to the differentiation of myoblasts (Gan M. et al., 2018; Dalle Carbonare L. et al., 2022;). Myo-D is one of the main proteins involved in the differentiation of satellite cells (SC) that participate in the formation of new muscle cells (Kong Y. et al., 1997; Macaluso F. et al., 2012; Dalle Carbonare L. et al., 2022).

In pathological conditions such as cachexia, an alteration of the pathways that regulate the expression of proteins involved in muscle homeostasis leads to an imbalance towards atrophy, mainly due to the activity of the forkhead transcription factor (FoxO) (Sandri M. et al., 2004; Reed SA, et al., 2012; Kang SH. et al., 2017), the latter is also involved in the inhibition of myogenesis (Kitamura T. et al., 2007). To date, several drugs have been used in preclinical models in the treatment of cachexia, but only anamorelin is used as a drug in phase 3 studies (Garcia JM. et al., 2013; Currow D et al., 2017). Despite these advances, there are still no effective treatments to counteract cachexia. Resistance training so far is the main strategy to promote muscle mass gain in cachexia conditions (Haredee JP. et al., 2017; Cortiula F. eta al., 2022). In accordance with these findings, the aim of this study is to produce, and evaluate the activity of Hsp60-containing nanovesicles obtained from a conditioned medium (Physiactisome (PHY)), to be used as a treatment in trained (TR) and sedentary mice (SED), inoculated with colon cancer fragments (C26) for develop cachexia. This strategy could be relevant to the biotechnology and pharmaceutical sectors, as it provides a process for the in vitro preparation of vesicles containing the heath shock protein Hsp60, which can be used to prepare pharmaceutical compositions.

1.1 Extracellular Vesicles (EVs)

In recent decades, there has been an increasing interest in the development of new and effective biopharmaceutical products for drug delivery in the field of rehabilitation and diagnosis (Herrmann I.K. et al. 2021; Bhatia S., 2016). One area of research aimed at improving these applications is the methodology based on extracellular vesicles (EVs). EVs are structures enclosed by a phospholipid bilayer that are released by almost all cell types under both physiological and pathological conditions, including immune responses, tissue regeneration, and cancer progression (Bhatia S., et al., 2016). Originally thought to be merely waste products excreted by cells, EVs carry a number of biological cargoes such as nucleic acids, lipids, and proteins that may have both metabolic significance and signaling potential, and are therefore now recognized as key components in cell-cell communication (Kalra H., 2016; Doyle L.M. et al., 2019; Zaborowski M.P. et al., 2015). EVs are released in body fluids and have been observed in saliva, plasma, tears, and cerebrospinal fluid (Neri T., et al., 2022; Cai J. et al., 2022; Ullah L. et al., 2022). Technological advancements have revolutionized the field of EV research. The development of novel isolation and purification methods, such as ultracentrifugation, density gradient centrifugation, and size-exclusion chromatography (SEC), has enabled researchers to obtain highly pure EV populations for downstream analysis (Akbar A. et al., 2022; Zhao Z. et al., 2021). Furthermore, the rise of advanced imaging methods such as electron microscopy and super-resolution microscopy has enabled the observation of EVs (Rikkert L.G. et al., 2019) and their interactions with recipient cells, offering valuable insights into the ways they function. Lately, there has been a growing emphasis on the potential medical uses of EVs. Scientists have investigated their utility as diagnostic indicators for different conditions, like cancer, neurodegenerative disorders, and cardiovascular diseases (Ciferri MC. Et al., 2021). Moreover, the potential of EVs for therapy has captured considerable interest, as research has shown their capacity to transport therapeutic cargoes to specific cells and influence the advancement of diseases (Sanz-Ros J. et al., 2023). The nomenclature and classification of extracellular vesicles (EVs) have been the subject of extensive discussion and refinement within the scientific community, intending to establish a standardized and comprehensive framework. Various classification systems and terminologies have been proposed based on different criteria, including biogenesis pathways, size, and cargo composition. The International Society for Extracellular Vesicles (ISEV) has played a pivotal role in promoting standardized

nomenclature and classification guidelines. EVs are released from cells in a variety of ways, and although their nomenclature is still controversial (Théry C. et al., 2018), are generally categorized into three main subtypes (**fig.1**): microvesicles (MVs, large EVs: 100 – 1000 nm diameter), exosomes (EXs, small EVs: 30 - 150 nm diameter), and apoptotic bodies (ApoBDs: 1000-5000 nm diameter), which are distinguished based on their biogenesis, release pathways and size (Yáñez-Mó M, et al., 2015; Doyle LM. Et al., 2019; Ullah L. et al., 2022). In this study, we will talk about nanovesicles to refer to the large and small extracellular vesicles.



Figure 1 Extracellular vesicles are produced through several cellular processes, including the budding of the plasma membrane (microvesicles), the release of intraluminal vesicles (ILV) for exosomes production, and apoptotic cell disassembly (apoptotic bodies). (Brakhage A.A. et al., 2021)

1.1.1 Apoptotic bodies (ApoBDs) biogenesis

Based on the different biogenesis, and different release mechanisms, it has been observed that the ApoBDs are produced during the late-stage apoptosis process which is an active process that occurs in normal cell turnover to remove many cells every single day, an adult human loses about 50 billion cells per day on average (Raj D. et al., 2006). ApoBDs are the largest subclass of EVs, they typically have a diameter range of 1000-5000 nm (fig.2) (Shpacovitch V. et al., 2017). They typically contain cytosolic contents including proteins, RNA, and fragmented DNA, as well as cellular organelles (Kakarla R. et al., 2020). Apoptosis plays a crucial role during the process of development and aging and it represents a homeostatic mechanism for maintaining regular cell populations in tissues. Based on the different initial activation pathways, it can be classified into intrinsic and extrinsic apoptosis. In the intrinsic pathway, also called the mitochondrial pathway, apoptosis begins with internal signals and depends on the cytoplasmic release of cytochrome C (cyt C) protein through the mitochondrial membrane (Kakarla R. et al., 2020). B-cell lymphoma 2 (BCL-2) family proteins are the major regulators of mitochondrial outer membrane (MOM) permeabilization, allowing the release of cytochrome C from the mitochondrial (Shamas-Din A. et al., 2013). BCL-2 family proteins can be pro-apoptotic (BAX, BAD, BAK, Bok) or anti-apoptotic (Bcl-2, Bcl-xL Bcl-w, Mcl-1, and A1) (Kakarla R. et al., 2020). After being released into the cytoplasm, cyt C binds Apaf-1 and forms a molecular complex that activates caspase-9. The latter activated further activates the caspase cascade, leading to apoptosis (Shamas-Din A. et al., 2013). The extrinsic pathway is activated by extracellular ligands binding to cell-surface death receptors, which leads to the formation of the death-inducing signaling complex (DISC). DISC is a multi-protein complex formed by members of the death receptor family, the activation of the DISC complex transduces a downstream signaling cascade, activating caspase-8 and caspase-3 resulting in apoptosis (Raj D. et al., 2006; Kakarla R. et al., 2020; Shamas-Din A. et al., 2013). In the last part of both apoptotic processes, ApoBDs are formed by the fragmentation of the nucleus and cytoplasm, they may contain a wide variety of cellular components: micronuclei, chromatin remnants, cytosol portions, degraded proteins, DNA fragments, or even intact organelles (Shpacovitch V. et al, 2017). After releasing in extracellular space, ApoBDs are phagocytosed by macrophages and degraded within phagolysosomes (Raj D. et al., 2006; Kakarla R. et al., 2020).

	Exosomes	Microvesicles	Apoptotic bodies
Size of vesicles / Shape	30- 100 nm, regular	100- 1000 nm, irregular	50- 5000 nm, irregular
Markers	LAMP-1, tetraspanins, Alix, MHC -I, -II, HSP70, TSG100	Selectins, integrins, tissues factor and cell-specific markers	Histones, organelles
Origin	Endosomal compartments of cells	Cell surface plasma membrane	Cells which undergo apoptosis

Figure 2 General characterization of extracellular vesicle population based on size origin and contents (Suchorska WM. et al., 2016).

1.1.2 Microvescicles (MVs) biogenesis and release

Microvesicles unlike ApoBDs are not produced during apoptosis but are released physiologically by directly budding from the plasma membrane (**fig.1**) (Kramer Albers E.M. et al., 2016) and, over the years there has always been a strong interest in understanding their role in intercellular communication. Microvesicles are also smaller than apoptotic bodies as their diameter range is approximately 100-1000 nm (**fig.2**) (Zhao F. et al., 2020). Microvesicles also contain components such as proteins, lipids, ROS regulators, mitochondria, and nucleic acids such as messenger RNAs (mRNAs) and DNA (Clancy JM. et al., 2021; Waldenstrom A. et al., 2012). Microvesicles showing surface markers such as integrins and selectins (Ekstrom K. et al., 2022; Baci D. et al., 2020), and are documented to contain a broad array of molecular cargo, which reflects not only the cell type from which the MV was released, but also the intracellular trafficking pathways delivering that cargo to the cell surface (Clancy J.W. et al., 2021). Scientific evidence shows that the mechanism underlying the biogenesis of microvesicles is based on the redistribution of membrane phospholipids and the coordination of actomyosin contractile

machinery. Formation of MVs also requires cholesterol, its depletion results in the loss of microvesicle release (Muralidharan-Chari V. et al., 2009; Del Conde I. et al., 2005). Microvesicles are formed by direct outward budding of the plasma membrane and differents pathways regulate the capture and release of MVs. Microvesicle regulatory pathways are influenced by small GTPases, many of which have known roles in regulating the contractile machinery, such as Ras-related ADP-ribosylation factor GTPase 6 (ARF6) that collaborates with endosomal sorting complexes required for transport (ESCRT) (Muralidharan-Chari V. et al., 2009; Clancy JM. Et al., 2021). ARF6 signaling regulates and coordinates the contraction of actomyosin for MVs release, his activity is important for phospholipase D activation and recruitment of extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) to the plasma membrane (Muralidharan-Chari V. et al., 2009). At the plasma membrane, ERK activity results in an activating phosphorylation on myosin light chain kinase (MLCK) which in turn phosphorylates the myosin light chain (MLC), which when activated allows fission, releasing microvesicles into the extracellular space (Muralidharan-Chari V. et al., 2009). It has also been observed that under certain stress conditions, the shedding of MVs can be modulated, a hypoxic tumor environment leads to an increase in the expression of hypoxia-inducible factors (HIFs) which can increase the release of MVs (Hockel M. et al., 2001). Under hypoxic conditions, RAB22A is a gene target of HIF-1, from experiments done with cultures of breast cancer cells grown in 1% of oxygen, it has been observed that HIF-1 binds to a 5'-untranslated sequence in the RAB22A gene to induce RAB22A expression. Rab22A colocalizes with budding vesicles and knockdown of RAB22A leads to less vesicle release suggesting a direct role for Rab22A in MVs release, this highlights that modulation of microvesicle secretion may have a potential therapeutic role (Lima LG. et al., 2011).

The presence of exosomes in the extracellular space was first demonstrated in the late 1980s, exosomes were obtained by ultracentrifugation of sheep reticulocyte culture medium (Johnstone R.M. et al., 1987). Exs secreted from cells were initially proposed as cellular waste resulting from cell damage, but only recently it has been proven that these extracellular vesicles are functional vehicles that carry a complex cargo of proteins, lipids, and nucleic acids (Simpson R.J. et al., 2009; Valadi H. et al., 2007). Exosomes are the smallest subclass of EVs in terms of size with a diameter range of approximately 30 - 150nm (fig.2) (Doyle LM. Et al., 2019). Although the exosome cargo is similar to microvesicles, they have specific distinct surface proteins such as tetraspanins (CD9, CD63, and CD81) and also integrins (α_2 , α_6 , β_1 , and β_4) and other proteins (TSG101, and ALIX), due to the high content of these tetraspanins and proteins in EXs, they are most often used as specific exosome markers (Simpson RJ. Et al., 2012; Deng F. et al., 2019). The mechanism of biogenesis for exosomes (fig. 3) occurs starting from the invagination of late endosomes, which are formed by inward budding of the limited multivesicular body membrane (MVB). Invagination of late endosomal membranes results in the formation of intraluminal vesicles (ILVs) within large MVBs (Minciacchi VR. et al., 2015; Krylova SV. et al., 2023). During this process, some proteins are incorporated into the invaginating membrane, while the cytosolic components are internalized within the ILVs. MVBs, after fusion with the plasma membrane, release exosomes into the extracellular space (fig.3) (Sahu R. et al., 2011; Krylova SV. et al., 2023). ILVs formation utilizes the endosomal sorting complex required for transport function (ESCRT). It is an intricate protein machinery composed of four separate protein ESCRTs (0, I, II, III) that work to facilitate MVB formation, vesicle budding, and protein sorting (Henne WM. Et al., 2011; Krylova SV. et al., 2023). The ESCRT mechanism is initiated by the recognition and sequestration of ubiquitinated proteins to specific domains of the endosomal membrane via ubiquitinbinding subunits of ESCRT-0. After interaction with the ESCRT-I and -II complexes, this complex interacts with ESCRT-III, a protein complex that is involved in promoting the budding processes. Finally, after ILVs formation, the ESCRT-III complex separates from the MVB membrane due to the activity of the sorting protein Vps4 (Krylova SV. et al., 2023; Henne WM. Et al., 2011). From the analysis of exosomes released by various cell types, different ESCRT components and ubiquitinated proteins have already been

identified. The typical exosomal protein Alix, which is associated with ESCRT proteins, has been reported to participate in endosomal membrane budding, abscission, and exosomal cargo (Krylova SV. et al., 2023; Henne WM. Et al., 2011). Further recent studies also propose an alternative pathway for sorting exosomal cargo into MVBs in an ESCRT-independent manner, that depends on microdomains which should be highly enriched in sphingomyelinase, ceramides and cholesterol (Elsherbini A. et al., 2018; Krylova SV. et al., 2023). The ceramide might cause spontaneous negative curvature of the endosomal membrane, by collaborating with other proteins such as tetraspanins, promoting biogenesis, protein loading, and budding of exosomes (Castro BM. et al., 2014). Probably several specialized mechanisms exist to ensure the specific sorting of bioactive molecules into exosomes, either the ESCRT-dependent or ESCRT-independent mechanism may act variously depending on the origin of the cell type.



Figure 3 Schematic pathway for exosome biogenesis. Cargos are sorted by endocytosis to the early endosomes, which upon maturation form the multivesicular body (MVB). Finally, MVBs fuse with the plasma membrane (PM) to release exosomes. (Krylova SV. et al., 2023)

1.2 Skeletal muscle

Muscle tissue specializes in generating movement through the contraction of its cells. It performs different types of activities and can vary in its morphology and structure. Skeletal muscle is part of neuromuscular system and consists of striated muscle cells innervated by somatic motor nerves, it is considered a voluntary muscle. The skeletal muscle is able to contract and cause movement voluntary, and the contraction requires energy produced by ATP, and this step produces heat, during this activity (Dave H.D. et al., 2022). Each skeletal muscle is an organ that consists of various integrated tissues; the skeletal muscle bundles, blood vessels, nerve fibers, and three layers of connective tissue that enclose it, and also compartmentalize the muscle fibers within the muscle. The epimysium wraps the entire muscle and separates it from other tissues and organs, allowing the muscle to contract and move independently. Inside each skeletal muscle its cellular units, the muscle fibers, are organized in fascicles, separated by a layer of connective tissue called perimysium. Inside each fascicle, each muscle fiber is surrounded by a connective tissue layer of collagen called the endomysium. The muscle fibers contain the cytoplasm, called sarcoplasm, that is surrounded by the plasma membrane which in muscle cells is called the sarcolemma. Into the sarcoplasm, there are myofibrils long structures $(1-2 \mu m \text{ in diameter})$ that represent the contractile machinery. Numerous nuclei are located below the sarcolemma and are always at the peripheral level of the muscle fiber. Myogenic satellite cells (SC) are positioned between the sarcolemma and the surrounding basal lamina. The functional unit of a skeletal muscle fiber is a modular structure repeated along the length of the fiber, the sarcomere, a highly organized structure of myofilaments, actin (thin filament), myosin (thick filament) and their regulatory proteins, troponin and tropomyosin, and other support proteins (Frontera W.R. et al., 2015). Each sarcomere is bordered by structures called Z-discs to which the actin myofilaments and its troponin-tropomyosin complex are anchored projecting toward the center of the sarcomere. The A-band consists of thick filaments, together with thin filaments that interdigitate by overlapping. The central region of the A-band is the H-zone, containing at the center the M-line, where the thick filaments are linked together. The I-band consists of the adjacent portions of two neighboring sarcomeres, in which only thin filaments are present and anchored in the Zdisc (Lange S. et al., 2020). The fibers contain other organelles essential for cellular function, such as ribosomes, Golgi apparatus, mitochondria, and a network of tubules and

cisterns. Tubular invaginations of the sarcolemma penetrate between the myofibrils, and the lumen of these transverse tubules (T) are in continuity with the extracellular space. The sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR) is a specialized form of smooth endoplasmic reticulum and forms a plexus of cisterns that expand into larger sacs, terminal cisterns, they come into close contact with T-tubules, forming the structures called triads (Jayasinghe I.D. et al., 2014). When a signal by a motor neuron arrives up to a skeletal muscle at the level of the neuromuscular junction, the signal propagates through the T tubules and opens the calcium channels of the sarcoplasmic reticulum allowing the release of Ca2+ions, which enter the sarcoplasm bind to troponin showing binding sites on actin filaments (Bolaños P. et al., 2022). This allows the myosin heads to bind to these exposed binding sites and form cross-bridges, according to an ATP-dependent reaction, the thin filaments and thick filaments slide on each other, contracting the muscle fiber (Bolaños P. et al., 2022). Skeletal muscles are composed of different types of fibers based on their different type of speeds of contraction and fatigue, number of mitochondria, and myoglobin concentration. Molecular analyses have revealed that fibers may be further identified according to their content of myosin heavy-chain isoforms (Stuart C.A. et al., 2016). Myosin heavy-chain I (MHCI) are generally oxidative fibers and slow, myosin heavy-chain IIB (MHCIIB) are glycolytic fibers with a fast contraction, and myosin heavy-chain IIA (MHCIIA) are called intermediate fibers, they are moderately oxidative and glycolytic (Fig.4).

Characteristic	Туре І	Type IIA	Type IIB
Nomenclature	Slow Red Fatigue resistant Oxidative	Fast White Fatigue resistant Oxidative/glycolytic	Fast White Fatiguable Glycolytic
Capillary density	High	Intermediate	Low
Mitochondrial density	High	High	Low
Oxidative capacity	High	High	Low
Glycolytic capacity	Low	High	High
Activity used for	Aerobic (long term)	Aerobic (short term)	Anaerobic (short term)
Force production	Low	High	Very high
Major storage fuel	Triglycerides	Glycogen	Glycogen

Figure 4 Metabolic characteristics of type I, IIA and type IIB fibers (Kruger S.D., 2007).

During embryonic development, the trunk and limb muscles derive from somites which are divided into two parts, the epaxial and hypaxial. After differentiation, the somites regionalize and form the dermomyotome (DM), which is the origin of the limbs, trunk, and head (Parker MH. Et al., 2003; Chal J. Et al., 2017). From epaxial dermomyotome derives the muscles of the back whereas the hypaxial dermomyotome forms the skeletal muscles and the limbs (Buckingham M. et al., 2003; Chal J. Et al., 2017). The dermomyotome is subdivided into dermatome and myotome from which the precursors of the myogenic lineage will originate, as well as satellite cells (SC), which are named after their histological localization around the muscle fibers, where they provide a stem cell population for muscle repair (Gros J. et al., 2005; Chal J. Et al., 2017). Prechordal mesoderm and paraxial mesoderm are the primary source of myogenic cells, the myoblasts. Myoblasts express the transcription factors Pax3 and Pax7, induced by Wnt signaling (Ben-Yair R. et al., 2005; Buckingham M. et al., 2003). These factors play an important role in activating the myogenic program. Pax3 and Pax7 are factors involved in the formation of muscles and the migration of myogenic progenitors (Buckingham M. 2006; Ben-Yair R. et al., 2005). Indeed, Pax7 induces the expression of genes such as Id3 (inhibition of differentiation 3), which inhibit the expression of MyoD in particular (Kumar D. et al., 2009). Progenitor cells can subsequently initiate the myogenic program by downregulating the expression of Pax3 and Pax7 while upregulating the expression of Myf5 and MyoD, thereby facilitating myogenesis (Hernandez-Torres F.H. et 2017). Thus, the myogenic progenitors are determined to express the myogenic factors MRFs: Myf5 (myogenic factor 5), MyoD (myogenic transcription factor), Mrf4 (myogenic regulatory transcription factor 4), and Myogenin (myogenic factor 4). In adults, a population of stem cells, the satellite cells, are still present in the muscle, SCs under different stimuli still have the ability to form myotubes and muscle fibers, and are responsible for the maintenance and repair of skeletal muscle (Zammit PS., 2017; Chal J. Et al., 2017) (fig.5).



Figure 5 The myogenic differentiation pathway involves the activation of quiescent SCs, following inhibition of pax proteins and increased expression of MRF family proteins, particularly Myo-D. Stem cell differentiation produces myoblasts resulting in the formation of myocytes and myotubes. (Hernandez-Torres F.H. et 2017)

1.2.1 Muscle molecular homeostasis

The morpho-functional properties of skeletal muscle during homeostasis are govemed by a dynamic turnover between protein synthesis and degradation (**fig.6**) and by cell turnover, in fact, skeletal muscle is a highly plastic organ that undergoes many changes throughout life to adapt to different functional demands (Poortmans JR. et al., 2012; Nishimura Y., et al 2021). Muscle cell turnover in adult skeletal muscle during the homeostatic process is guaranteed by the activity of satellite cells, and by other precursor cells, which deal with the differentiation and production of new cells (Chargé S.B. et al., 2004). The signaling pathway that regulates protein turnover in muscle fibers is mediated by the Insulin-like Growth Factor 1 (IGF1) and by a cascade of intracellular effectors, including Akt, which has the ability to control both protein synthesis, by activating the kinase mTOR, and protein degradation by repressing the forkhead box subfamily O (FoxO) transcription factor (O'Neill BT. et al., 2016; Schiaffino S. et al., 2013). Upon binding to IGF-1, IGF-1 receptor (IGF-1R) phosphorylates an intracellular adaptor protein insulin receptor substrate-1 (IRS-1), which recruits and phosphorylates phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K). PI3K converts PIP2 to PIP3, which activates PDK1 and Akt, and the latter promotes protein synthesis.

The PI3K, Akt pathway plays a critical role in myotube hypertrophy (Peng XD, et al., 2003) it has been observed that activation of Akt in rat muscle prevents denervationinduced atrophy (Pallafacchina G. et al., 2002). The Insulin-IGF1-AKT-mTOR pathway promotes muscle growth. The mTOR kinase interacts with several proteins, recent studies have identified two different complexes for mTOR; mTORC1 complex that contains Raptor, and mTORC2 that contains Rictor (Sartori R. et al., 2021). These two complexes deal with different activities, The mTORC2 complex is related to glucose and lipid homeostasis and is involved in the regulation of reactions involved in cytoskeletal rearrangement and cell survival (Balasubramanian S. et al., 2009), mTORC1 integrates information coming from outside the cell such as stress factors, oxygen, growth factors (insulin or IGF-1), regulating protein synthesis, the biosynthesis of lipids and nucleotides, promoting muscle hypertrophy and inhibiting autophagy (Bodine S.C. 2022). FOXO transcription factors protein is activated by upstream signals under conditions of low nutrient availability (Brown AK. et al., 2018). FOXO in muscle promotes autophagy, and in particular, mitochondria are degraded by the lysosomal autophagy pathway (Liesa M. et al., 2018). Overexpression of FOXO1 or FOXO3 activates the expression of mitochondrial E3 ubiquitin ligase (Mul1), this induces the degradation of mitofusin 2 (MFN2) (Webb A.E. et al., 2014). Mitofusin 2 degradation results in the induction of autophagy and skeletal muscle atrophy (Webb A.E. et al., 2014). The reactions involved in the regulation of muscle homeostasis may undergo alterations. An imbalance in autophagy impairs myofiber homeostasis, causing excessive removal of cellular components that are needed for normal activities and leading to muscle atrophy (Scicchitano B.M. et al., 2018). There are many causes for the onset of atrophy and it can occur following the presence of various pathologies (Da Silva S.P. et al., 2020). A particular type of atrophy typical of cancer patients, in whom during the progression of the disease they present a state of muscular atrophy, is defined as cachexia (Baracos VE. Et al., 2018; Aoyagi T. et al., 2015).



Figure 6 Simplified scheme of the molecular reactions involved in protein degradation and protein synthesis (muscle homeostasis), regulated by FoxO and mTOR. (Bonifacio A. et al., 2017)

1.3 Muscle and cachexia

Severe muscle atrophy typically is a direct effect of protein degradation induced by different pathophysiologic states such as denervation (Daou N. et al., 2020), immobilization (Appell HJ 1990; JiLL . et al., 2019), aging (Volpi E. et al., 2004), cancer-associated cachexia (Baracos VE. Et al., 2018; Aoyagi T. et al., 2015), diabetes, renal failure, cardiac failure, burns and trauma. Atrophy is defined as a decrease in the size of a tissue or organ due to cellular decrease in cell size by the loss of organelles, cytoplasm, and proteins (Dumitru A. et al., 2018). The rapid loss of muscle mass and strength primarily results from excessive protein breakdown, which is often accompanied by reduced protein synthesis. This loss of muscle function can lead to reduced quality of life, increased morbidity, and mortality. Cancer-associated cachexia is a complex metabolic syndrome with profound changes in energy balance (Fredrix E.W. et al., 1990; Argilés J.M. et al., 2014), characterized by loss of muscle with or without loss of fat mass (Evans

W.J. et al., 2008). From a diagnostic point of view it is possible to talk about pre-cachexia, cachexia and refractory cachexia (Fearon K. et al., 2011):

- **Pre-cachexia**: when weight loss is more than 1kg but less than 5% with the presence of anorexia or metabolic abnormalities such as glucose intolerance.
- **Cachexia:** when weight loss is more than 5% or when weight loss is more than 2% in patients with body mass index (BMI) <20 kg/m2 or the presence of sarcopenia.
- Refractory cachexia: when weight loss is more than 15% with BMI less than 23kg/m2 or when weight loss is more than 20% with BMI less than 27 kg/m2. These patients have a reduced life expectancy (<3 months), which does not allow for effective anti-cachectic treatment to be implemented (Fearon K. et al., 2011; Law M.L., 2022).

The progression of cachexia is variable and can be influenced by tumor type, cancer progression, food intake, severity of inflammation, and response to anti-cancer therapies (Law M.L., 2022; Lim S. et al., 2020). Patients with cancers of the gastrointestinal tract, colon, lung, and liver have a risk of developing cachexia between 50 and 90% (Law M.L., 2022; Wan O. et al., 2022). Cachexia has clear clinical relevance as 80% of cancer patients develop cachexia and 25% die from cardiac or respiratory failure associated with cachexia. rather than from the presence of the tumor itself (Lim S. et al., 2020). It has been known that the tumor releases pro-inflammatory cytokines such as interferon-gamma (INF- γ), tumor necrosis factor α (TNF α), interleukin 6/1 (IL-6, IL-1), and are responsible for the loss of muscle mass during cancer progression (Klampfer L. 2011; Acharyya S. et al., 2004; Borowczak J. et al., 2022). These cytokines originate from both the host and the tumor (de Matos-Neto EM. Et al., 2015), and activate the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway (UPP) leading to increased protein degradation altering the autophagic mechanism (Pigna E. et al., 2016; Zhang L. et al., 2013). There are many factors involved in the onset and maintenance of cachexia, which regulates autophagy and protein degradation pathways, mainly stimulating the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway (UPP) that involves three key enzymes- E1 activating, E2 conjugating, and E3 ligase. An ubiquitin molecule is first activated via the E1 enzyme in an ATP-dependent manner that is further conjugated to E2 enzymes and ubiquitin and finally transfers to the targeted substrate via E3 ligase leading the protein to be degraded (Tu Y. et al., 2012). An increase in UPP expression and activity

was observed in cancer patients with a 10% weight loss (Bossola M. et al., 2003). In vivo studies also demonstrated an increased level of proteasome subunits C2 and C5, as well as the levels of ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme E2 in gastrocnemius and pectoral muscles of mice bearing the MAC16 adenocarcinoma that showed cachexia (Khal J. Et al., 2005). Several transcription factors, particularly FOXO factors, have been identified to play important roles in muscle atrophy and cachexia, (Sandri M. et al., 2004; O'Neill BT. et al., 2019). In cultured myotubes undergoing atrophy, it has been observed that the activity of the PI3K/AKT pathway decreases, leading to activation of FoxO transcription factors and atrogin-1 (Sandri M. et al., 2004)(Fig.7). Furthermore, active FOXO3 acts on the Muscle Atrophy F-box gene (MAFbx) promoter to cause transcription of MAFbx and increase atrophy of myotubes and muscle fibers (Sandri M. et al., 2004). In limb muscles and diaphragm of animal models of tumor, cachexia inoculated with colon-26 (C26) cells, FOXO1 and FOXO3 activity increased the levels of STAT3, Fos, C/EBPB which are transcription factors linked to atrophy (Judge SM. Et al., 2014). Blocking FoxO prevented C26-induced muscle fiber atrophy of both locomotor muscles and the diaphragm and significantly spared force deficits (Reed SA. Et al., 2012; Judge SM. et al., 2014). FOXO activity appears to be involved not only in the control of protein degradation but also in the modulation of protein synthesis by inhibiting myogenic activity through Myo-D inhibition. Indeed, as was demonstrated when FOXO1 expression was downregulated both in cells and in mice, an increase in the level of MyoD and a decrease in the levels of the muscle regulator myostatin were observed, stimulating the myogenic pathway (Liu CM. Et al., 2007). Myostatin is a responsible factor for stopping the growth of muscle, and it's secreted by murine and human neoplasms. Myostatin probably is involved in the generation of cancer cachexia (Kawaguchi Y. et al., 2023). Different studies show that muscle wasting in advanced cancer patients with cachexia is characterized by impaired Akt activity and suppressed mTOR signaling, and analysis of gastrocnemius muscle from colon cancer mice that develop cachexia reveals a progressive decrease in mTORC1 activity (White JP. et al., 2011). Furthermore, in vitro studies with C2C12 cells demonstrated that the activation of mTORC1 following stretching was subsequently inhibited by cachectic factors contained in the culture media from Lewis cell carcinomas (Gao S. et al., 2016). These studies confirm that cachexia is a complex metabolic syndrome, characterized by drastic loss of body weight, decline in muscle mass and function, wasting and inflammation, higher metabolism increased fatigue, and weakness (Evans WJ. et al., 2008; Ali S. et al., 2014), which cannot be completely corrected with conventional nutritional

support and leads to progressive functional damage. Physical exercise is the only accepted approach to prevent or slow atrophy, but there may be some limitations and it is not always feasible on patients, for this reason in recent years much research has been conducted to study the effect of training both in cachectic and healthy subjects, in order to better understand the molecular mechanisms that can be used for the development of new therapies.



Figure 7 A Summary of the Roles of the IGF-1/AKTPathway and Foxo in Muscle Atrophy (Sandri M. et al., 2004)

1.3.1 Cachexia treatments and training like treatment

To date, different types of therapies have been implemented and different drugs used in an attempt to counteract the loss of muscle mass induced by cachexia, despite various attempts, poor results have been achieved in the treatment. Tumors produce a lot of proinflammatory cytokines like IL-6, which is most likely involved in reducing muscle protein synthesis (Chonov DC. et al., 2019; Hardee JP. et al., 2018). Thus, inhibiting the effects of IL-6 would be important to reduce cachexia directed at skeletal muscle in cancer. The Food and Drug Administration-approved drug Sylvant (siltuximab) is an antibody to IL-6, which counteracts the effects of IL-6. However, it can lead to various side effects such as difficulty with breathing, nausea, vomiting, and body aches. Therefore, it is used with great caution (Lambert CP. et al., 2021). With the presence of cancer, a reduction in circulating testosterone concentrations is also observed, low testosterone

levels were seen in more than 70% of cancer-cachexia cases, this is the case for predominantly 'female cancers' because some of the testosterone is converted to estrogen (Burney BO. et al., 2012). It has been observed that the use of anabolic steroids such as nandrolone decanoate, and oxandrolone leads to an increase in muscle mass and low androgenic effect, but it can bring sexual and other side effects (Lambert CP. et al., 2021; Batterham MJ. et al., 2001). In cachexia conditions appetite stimulants, such as megestrol acetate (MA), were used, this is currently used to improve appetite and to increase weight in cancer-associated anorexia, but the mechanism by which MA increases appetite is unknown (Ruiz Garcia V. et al., 2013). In recent studies it has been observed that the use of megestrol acetate (treatment with 100 mg/kg/day in vivo model), leads to the downregulation of autophagy and attenuated body weight loss, however, this effect was mainly found in the cardiac level and its effectiveness for anorexia and cachexia in neoplastic patients is under investigation (Musolino V. et al., 2016). Another attempt was cyproheptadine, a histamine antagonist, that improved in appetite but unfortunately, cyproheptadine did not significantly abate progressive weight loss in these patients with advanced malignant diseases (Kardinal CG. et al., 1990). Corticosteroids also improve appetite and performance, but have had no positive effects on body weight and cause more serious adverse effects such as insulin resistance, fluid retention, and adrenal suppression, therefore, corticosteroids are not suitable, have many side effects and should be used in a limited manner. (Loprinzi CL et al., 1999; Tazi E. et al., 2010). Another type of experimental anti-cachectic therapy uses anamorelin which is used as a drug in phase 3 trials (Garcia JM et al., 2013; Currow D et al., 2017). Anamorelin is mainly used as an anti-anorexia drug, this drug is a high-affinity agonist of the ghrelin receptor, which when activated has an anabolic effect and stimulates the appetite (Naito T. et al., 2022; Hoon SN. et al., 2020).

Until now, in recovering lost mass, the treatment that brings promising results is physical training. Specifically, what would stimulate muscle protein synthesis and increase the positive effects on muscle protein growth is progressive resistance exercise also known as resistance training (RT). The muscular system has attracted attention thanks to the discovery of the muscle secretome and its high plasticity and adaptation, and the physiological effects of physical exercise are ubiquitously reported as bene ficial to the cardiovascular and musculoskeletal systems. (Zunner B.E.M. et al.,2022). Exercise induces considerable physiological change in the immune system, and has a strong impact on the production and release of cytokines, the relationship between exercise and the

immune system provides an opportunity to explore the complex interaction between basic physiological and immunological mechanisms in musculoskeletal health and disease (Pedersen BK et al., 2000; Rhind SG et al., 2002). Exercise induced neuromuscular adaptations lead to increased muscle strength and power, regulate the release of cytokines and hormones (testosterone, cortisol, growth hormone (GH), insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1), promotion of muscle growth stimulating hypertrophy (Vingren JL. et al., 2010; Bermejo JL et al., 2022; Manini TM et al., 2012). Exercise training is able to decrease myostatine and cytokines expression in skeletal muscle, it may reduce pro-inflammatory cytokine expression, mainly of TNF and IL-6. (Jaworska J et al., 2020; Calle MC et al., 2010). Resistance training, moreover, induces significant phosphorylation on mTOR favoring protein synthesis (Shirai T et al., 2020). Exercise is known to be associated with the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), the contraction of skeletal muscles produces oxygen radicals and other reactive species capable of oxidizing cellular molecules. Importantly, the failure to eliminate these oxidant molecules during exercise results in the oxidation of cellular proteins and lipids but, under physiological conditions, muscle fibers and other cells contain endogenous antioxidant enzymes capable of eliminating oxidants (Kawamura T et al., 2018; Thirupathi A et al., 2021). The anabolic component of exercise training increases the activation of antioxidant enzymes (Powers SK et al., 2022). Oxidative stress can increase strongly following the presence of various pathologies and is the key factor that triggers skeletal muscle atrophy (Powers SK et al., 2007; Powers SK. et al., 2022). At the cellular level, the main organelle involved in the regulation of reactive oxidant species is the mitochondrion. Chronic excess oxidative stress leads to an alteration of mitochondrial activity and is observed suppression of mitochondrial fusion and fission, inhibition of the electron transport chain and a reduction in ATP production, furthermore, there is an increase in damage to mitochondrial DNA and reduced mitochondrial biogenesis (Alizadeh Pahlavani H. et al., 2022; VanderVeen BN et al., 2017). Cachexia also leads to a decrease in mitochondrial dynamics, and the efficiency of the mitochondrial network by increasing the level of ROS and apoptosis (VanderVeen BN et al., 2017). The role of ROS in promoting skeletal muscle dysfunction and atrophy is well known and examined (Ferreira LF et al., 1985; Li YP et al., 2003). Pgc1-a (peroxisome proliferator gamma coactivator 1) is a transcriptional coactivator, that regulates the expression of numerous genes, including those responsible for regulating mitochondrial biogenesis and fat oxidation. Several studies show how exercise rapidly activates PGC-1a and increases mitochondrial biogenesis improving muscle functions

(Jung S et al., 2014, Lira VA et al., 2010). In conditions of cachexia, alterations and decreases in the regular activity of Pgc1- α have been observed, with related alterations in mitochondrial function and increased muscle atrophy. (Kim Y.M. et al. 2021; Huot JR et al., 2022). Several studies done on the overexpression of Pgc1- α show an improvement in muscle tissue in cachectic conditions but are not sufficient to re-establish the initial condition (Huot JR et al., 2022; Morena da Silva F. et al., 2022). It has also been observed that skeletal muscle training is also responsible for a strong increase in a particular family of proteins, the heat shock proteins (HSPs). HSPs are molecular chaperones involved in folding proteins, in general, are prosurvival molecules, and their overexpression can lead to protection against and improvements after a variety of stressor factors (Noble EG et al., 2008; Hu C. et al., 2020; Barone R. et al., 2016). Under conditions of stress, HSPs are required for the stabilization of denatured or misfolded proteins (Kiang J.G. et al., 1998; Liu Y. et al., 2001). Several studies demonstrate that the activity of Hsp proteins is directly related to improved mitochondrial function and biogenesis in fact, some chaperones are localized in subcellular compartments such as mitochondria, which contain several different chaperones (including HSP60, HSP10, HSP70) (Böttinger L. et al., 2015; Voos W., 2013). HSP72 overexpression in mice has been shown to increase endurance, and an increase in mitochondrial content by 50% was also observed (Archer AE et al., 2018). Furthermore resistance exercise increases Hsp60 levels in the soleus muscle in trained mice. In conjunction with this, an increase in the number of mitochondria and PGC1a isoforms expression was also found (Barone R. et al., 2016). A better and greater understanding of the molecular pathways involved in physical activity that regulate mitochondrial biogenesis and myogenesis is still necessary, as in certain pathological conditions it is not possible to physically implement training sessions to exploit their beneficial effects. Therefore, more information could help us in the design and preparation of new drugs and therapies to combat cachexia.

1.4 Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma coactivator (PGC-1 α)

Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma coactivator 1 is a member of the family of transcription coactivators and regulates critical processes in muscle physiology and promotes the remodeling of muscle tissue, including mitochondrial biogenesis, lipid metabolism, and angiogenesis (Liang H et al., 2006). PGC-1a has been identified in tissues rich in mitochondria, such as skeletal, muscular, and cardiac, but also in organs such as kidney, liver and brain (Finck BN et al., 2006). Multiple stimuli including calcium ions, ROS, insulin, thyroid hormones and hypoxia, ATP demand and cytokines lead to the activation of PGC-1a which interacts in the nucleus with various transcription factors (Puigserver P et al., 2003). Mitochondrial biogenesis is regulated by complex signaling pathways, this requires replication of mitochondrial DNA and the synthesis, import and incorporation of proteins and lipids into mitochondria (Mootha VK et al., 2003; Knutti D et al., 2001; Russell AP. et al., 2005; Olmos Y et al., 2009; Housley MP et al., 2009). The collaboration between PGC-1 α and nuclear respiratory factors 1 and 2 (NRF-1, 2) promotes the expression of numerous mitochondrial proteins, such as mitochondrial transcription factor A (Tfam), which directly stimulates mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) replication and transcription (Kelly DP et al., 2004; Lin J et al., 2005). Different signaling pathways may be involved in causing muscle atrophy, and this depends on the type of upstream signal that triggers the negative stimulus leading to reduced nutritional and energy intake (Hunt LC et al., 2021). The activity of PGC-1a could be very important to counteract the course of muscle atrophy and cachexia, in this regard it has been demonstrated that in muscle atrophy a downregulation of PGC-1 α is observed, this leads to a lower inhibition of FoxO activity resulting in an increase in phosphorylated FoxO which promotes protein degradation. Instead, transgenic mice with overexpression of PGC-1a showed reduced production of inflammatory cytokines and protein degradation after undergoing limb denervation (Sandri M. et al., 2006).

1.5 Satellite cells and role of MyoD

Myoblast determination protein 1, plays a major role in regulating muscle differentiation (fig.5). MyoD belongs to a family of proteins known as myogenic regulatory factors (MRFs), MRF family members include MyoD, Myf5, myogenin, and MRF4 (Myf6) (Rudnicki M.A. et al., 1995). MyoD is one of the earliest markers of myogenic commitment (Cooper R.N. et al., 1999; Cornelison D.D. et al., 2000). and is expressed at extremely low and essentially undetectable levels in quiescent satellite cells, but expression of MyoD is activated in response to exercise or muscle tissue damage (Silver J.S. et al., 2021). As it is known skeletal muscle is capable of phenotypic adaptation (Hoppeler H. et al., 2002), and shows enormous plasticity to adapt to extrinsic and intrinsic stimuli, such as contractile activity, endurance exercise, electrical stimulation, denervation, nutritional interventions or hypoxia, by modifying the balance between muscle catabolism and anabolism (Holloszy JO 1984; Hoppeler H et al., 2001). Skeletal muscle satellite cells are considered to play a crucial role in muscle fiber maintenance, repair and remodeling. Their discovery dates back to the 1960s when they were identified as the main source of new myonuclei in postnatal skeletal muscle tissue (Mauro A. 1961; Reznik M. 1969; Moss FP., Leblond C.P., 1970). In adult muscle, satellite cells typically reside in a quiescent state; however, after stimulation they are activated and undergo proliferation and/or differentiation (Zhou S et al., 2022), playing an important role in the re-adaptation of muscle tissue. The myogenic program of satellite cells is highly regulated by a fine mechanism of up or down-regulation of the paired box (Pax3, Pax7) transcription factor and myogenic regulatory factors (MRFs, such as MyoD, Myf5). In satellite cells, Pax7 induces the expression of genes such as Id3 (inhibition of differentiation 3), which inhibit the expression of MyoD and other myogenetic factors (Kumar D. et al., 2009). So these quiescent cells, following appropriate environmental stimuli, can enter the myogenic program, it is therefore observed a decreased expression of Pax3 and Pax7 and a progressive increase in expression of Myf5 and MyoD promoting myogenesis (Zammit PS., 2017). Several studies done both in vitro and in vivo have demonstrated that upregulation of Myf5 marks the first phase of myogenic commitment followed by concomitant expression of MyoD, which marks the majority of newly activated satellite cells (Grounds MD et al., 1992; Smith C.K. 2nd et al., 1994; Cooper RN et al., 1999; Cornelison D.D. et al., 2000). The activated satellite cell undergoes a symmetrical division allowing the formation of myoblasts, which migrate inside the muscle fiber, aligning themselves with each other, and forming myocytes.

Ultimately these undergo fusion and complete cellular maturation forming myotubes. Myostatin is a member of the transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) superfamily and acts as a potent negative regulator of skeletal muscle growth (McPherron AC et al., 2002). In vivo studies with myostatin knockout mice demonstrate that the gene mutation produces mice with 2-3 times greater muscle mass than wild-type mice (McPherron et al., 1997). Myostatin, in addition to having a role in protein degradation, also inhibits myogenesis by inhibiting the proliferation of satellite cells (McCroskery S et al2003; Taylor WE et al., 2001). This activity has been observed in several in vitro experiments demonstrating how myostatin blocks proliferation and differentiation by the down regulation of MyoD (Langley B et al., 2002). Furthermore, using the single exercise model it was demonstrated that the number of myostatin-positive satellite cells in both type I and type II muscle fibers decreases substantially, and this is consistent with a concomitant increase in the number of MyoD-positive satellite cells and with a greater number of satellite cells in the S phase of the cell cycle (McKay B.R. et al., 2012; Snijders T et al., 2014). Myostatin has been shown to induce muscle wasting, there is evidence that its activity induces up-regulation of genes like atrogin-1, FoxO1, and MuRF-1, which have a role in the ubiquitin proteolytic system (McFarlane C. et al., 2006). Particularly, FoxO is the main player in promoting muscle atrophy and can directly regulate and inhibit the activity of Myo-D by interfering with the myogenic pathway (Xu M et al., 2017) (fig. 8). These in vitro and in vivo studies suggest that under various stimuli MyoD is an important regulator involved in the plasticity and adaptation of muscle tissue, allowing the differentiation of satellite cells.



Figure 8: FoxO1 signaling pathway involved in skeletal muscle differentiation. FoxO1 negatively regulates early myoblast differentiation by promoting the activity of myostatin and instead inhibiting that of MEF2C, MyoD and mTOR. This leads to a block or delay in myogenesis. (Xu M et al., 2017)

1.6 Heat shock proteins (HSPs)

Several heat shock proteins (Hsps) function as molecular chaperones (Whitley D. et al., 1999). Furthermore, there are other molecular chaperones that do not belong to the Hsp family but play crucial roles in helping cellular proteins reach their native state, achieving correct folding or conformational, and reaching their intended cellular destinations such as the endoplasmic reticulum or the mitochondria. The HSPs are generally considered protective molecules against different types of stress and have numerous intracellular functions (Macario AJ., 1995; Rappa F. et al., 2012). In living organisms, cells are under constantly changing conditions and maintenance of cellular protein homeostasis, all cells respond to various stress conditions, and the HSPs expression is induced by numerous and different stress stimuli (Pockley AG et al., 2018), but they are recognized as heat shock protein as their discovery occurred following the application of heat shock which

demonstrated an increase in their transcription (Ritossa s.d., 1962; Mirault ME et al., 1978). The temperature at which heat shock proteins are induced varies depending on the normal growth temperature of the species. These proteins are primarily molecular chaperones involved in protein transport by assembling multimolecular complexes and in folding and triggering protein degradation by the proteasome. HSPs play crucial roles in the regulation of gene expression, signal transduction, cell differentiation, intercellular communications, apoptosis and cellular senescence (Czarnecka A.M. et al., 2006; Ikwegbue P.C. et al., 2017). Several of the HSPs are members of gene families that include proteins physiologically present and in organisms, in most cases, essential for cell function (Hu C. et al., 2020). and are classified based on their molecular weight (Schlesinger MJ., 1990). The heat shock proteins proved to be incredibly highly conserved among organisms, for example, the heat shock protein, hsp70, has about 50% of its sequence conserved between E. coli and humans, and some domains are 96% similar (Schlesinger MJ., 1990). Although they are the most highly conserved, ubiquitous, and abundant proteins in all organisms, their cellular stress response can depend on the class and stimulus.

1.6.1 Heat shock protein 60 (Hsp60)

The HSPD1 gene (17 kb) with 12 exons and it is localized at chromosome locus 2q33.1. This gene encodes a protein of 573aa corresponding to a molecular weight of 61.05 kDa known as HSP60 or Hsp60 (Mukherjee K. et al., 2010). Hsp60 belongs to group I of chaperonins (Caruso Bavisotto C. et al., 2020), its ATP-dependent chaperon mechanism was thoroughly investigated for the prokaryotic homolog GroEL. Three domains were identified for GroEL: apical, intermediate, and equatorial. To carry out its chaperoning function, GroEL needs to generate a tetradecamer complex with its co-chaperon GroES (the homolog of Hsp10) (Ishii N., 2017). Thus, the chaperon complex is made up of GroEL, structured in two rings with seven identical subunits, and GroES, which binds to the apical domains of GroEL to close the cage (Vilasi S et al., 2017). The chaperon mechanism is a

multistep process that involves the unfolded protein binding to GroEL apical domains, concomitantly, ATP binds to GroEL's equatorial domain and its hydrolysis allows the conformational change (from trans to cis) of the GroEL apical and intermediate domains for the substrate encapsulation in the central cavity of the chaperon (Dekker C et al., 2011; Horwich A.L., 2011). Consecutively, the dissociation of the cis-complex and the release of the folded protein, ADP, and GroES occurs (Yan X. et al., 2018). Although the chaperon mechanism of the mammalian mitochondrial Hsp60-Hsp10 complex is similar, the structure appears as a symmetrical football-shaped complex by X-ray (Nisemblat S. et al., 2014), structural and biochemical analyzes of mitochondrial Hsp60 establish a unique toroidal structure of seven subunits, in contrast to the bacterial homolog (Viitanen P.V. et al., 1992).

1.6.2 Hsp60 in Skeletal Muscle

In the muscular system HSPs chaperone play an important role in cellular homeostasis, and heat shock proteins such as Hsp60 have an important role in muscular adaptation. The correlation between Hsp60 and exercise seems plausible, but the available literature is limited and occasionally controversial. Hsp60 does not appear to have fibro-specific expression, there is currently an ongoing debate regarding the localization of fibro-specific Hsp60 following resistance training. It was observed that men who did aerobic training had significantly higher levels of Hsp60 in the vastus lateralis muscle, also showing a high percentage of I and IIa fibers, compared to untrained subjects. However, no increase in Hsp60 levels was observed in the same muscle following a single bout of acute resistance training (Morton J.P. et al., 2008). In a study conducted with male rats after resistance training they were not observed significant differences of Hsp60 in muscles rich in type IIB and IIx fibers such as plantaris and gastrocnemius (Ogata T. et al., 2009, Moura C.S. et al., 2014). In contrast, it was observed that female rats, following an 8-week resistance training protocol, showed significantly elevated levels of Hsp60 in the plantaris muscle (which is rich in type IIB fibers), with no detectable difference in the soleus muscle compared to the untrained group (Mattson J.P. et al., 2000). However, resistance-trained rats show increased Hsp60 levels in type I fibers of the soleus, and this does not occur in the gastrocnemius (rich in fibers type IIB) (Samelman T.R. et al., 2000). In agreement with the latter study, male mice trained in endurance for 6 weeks show an increase in Hsp60 expression levels in the soleus, but the same effect is not observed in the gastrocnemius muscle (Barone R. et al., 2016). Furthermore, this physiological adaptation with increased Hsp60 expression appears to be related to increased expression of peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor gamma coactivator 1 alpha (PGC-1a), which can trigger mitochondrial biogenesis and thus avoids cytotoxic effects (Barone R. et al., 2016). Hsp60 is mainly localized at the mitochondrial level, the mitochondrial import signal (MIS) at the Nterminus drives Hsp60 from the cytoplasm to the mitochondria (Rodriguez A. et al., 2020). Hsp60 is also at the cytoplasmic level, plasma-cell membrane, inside exosomes, extracellular space, and circulation (Gupta S. et al., 2002; Cappello F. et al., 2008). Within mitochondria, Hsp60 activity allows for the correct folding of other mitochondrial proteins (Cheng M.Y. et al., 1989) and stabilizes misfolded proteins, providing for mitochondrial biogenesis and protein homeostasis (Lin Z. et al., 2008). Hsp60 is also involved in mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) replication (Kaufman BA ET AL., 2003).

Research Aims

The aim of the study was to produce a new nanovesicle-based drug containing Hsp60 and to compare the effectiveness of this product with exercise training in cachexia management. Furthermore, it has been studied the expression levels of Hsp60, PGC-1 α , and Myo-d in response to the treatments.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Cell culture

C2C12 mouse myoblasts (from ATCC CRL-1772[™]) were maintained in DMEM high glucose, GlutaMAX[™] Supplement (Gibco, Thtermo fischer)containing, 4.5 g/l glucose supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS), 1000 UI/ml penicillin, 1000 UI/ml streptomycin and 2 mM L-Glutamine at 37 °C in humidified air containing 5% CO2.

2.2 Physiactisome production (C2C12 transfection with electroporation)

Electroporation (EP) was used to develop Physiactisome (PHY), an Hsp60-rich nanovesicle-based product obtained from the culture medium of electroporated C2C12 cells that were transfected with the plasmid Pcmv-6-Entry HSPD1-DDK-flag to overexpress Hsp60 in C2C12 cells. The electroporation was done by the use of Neon® Transfection System_Invitrogen. Two days before EP, C2C12 was grown in T-75 flasks to obtain a confluence of about 80-90%. On the day of the experiment, a 6-well was prepared containing 2 mL of fresh medium without antibiotic, DMEM Glutamax with L-

Glut 1%, 10% FBS. In six nuclease-free tubes 5 µg of Pcmv-6-Entry HSPD1-DDK-flag was inserted. Cells were detached from T-75 flasks with 1x trypsin, washed with PBS 1x $(W/O Ca^{++}, Mg^{++})$ and counted, $2X10^5$ cells for any condition; C2C12 (not EP), electroporated without plasmid (C2C12 CN), C2C12 electroporated with Pcdna 3.1 plasmid as a negative control (C2C12 pcdna 3.1), C2C12 electroporated with Pcmv-6-Entry plasmid without insert (C2C12 MOCK) as a second negative control and C2C12 electroporated with Pcmv-6-Entry HSPD1-DDK-flag plasmid (C2C12 HSPD1). The Neon® Tube in the Neon® Pipette Station was set up with 3 mL of E2 Electrolyte Buffer. C2C12 cells were resuspended for each condition mentioned in 100 µL of Buffer R. Finally, 100 µL of cell suspension containing the DNA was taken with the Neon® Tip 100ul, this was inserted inside the Neon® Tube in Buffer E2. After setting the working conditions for electroporation, which in our case were; Pulse voltage (V) 1200, Pulse Width 20ms, Pulse N°2, the samples were ready for electroporation. Once the electroporation was completed, the 100 µL were placed in the corresponding well. This was repeated for all samples. Finally, the plate was incubated at 37°C for 48h. The secretion obtained after electroporation from C2C12 HSPD1 cells (Physiactisome) was used for the in vivo study, and another portion was used to prepare the samples to be observed under the scanning and transmission electron microscope (STEM) to confirm the presence of extracellular vesicles, and for western blot analysis to investigate on nanovesicles contents. Instead the secretion obtained from C2C12 MOCK cells it was used as a placebo (PLA) in vivo study. Instead C2C12 cells for each condition were used for subsequent western blot and double-immunofluorescence studies to confirm cell transfection.

2.3 Immunofluorescence for electroporated C2C12

The plasmid used didn't have a fluorescent protein that could have been easily detected by microscope. For this reason, immunofluorescence was necessary to follow the evolution of the transfected cells. Briefly, after electroporation, the C2C12 cells were detached from the 6 weel, count and plate, 1×10^3 cells per well with 500uL of culture medium in an 8-well slide chamber. After 24 h the medium was removed, made 3 washes with PBS 1X

(W/O Ca⁺⁺, Mg⁺⁺), subsequently, we proceeded with the fixation with Cold Methanol 100% : 20 min on ice and Parafolmaldeide 4% : 20 Min on ice. Permeabilization of the cells was done with Triton-x 100, 0,5% : at RT, for the blocking instead we used BSA 3% in PBS: 1H at RT, and finally, the primary antibody, Anti-DDK-flag (mouse monoclonal antibody, Origene TA50011-100, dilution 1:50) in PBS was incubated, 4 C°, O.N. The following day, the first primary antibody has been removed, three washes were carried out with PBS 1X (W/O Ca⁺⁺, Mg⁺⁺), then the second incubation was carried out with the primary anti-Hsp60 (rabbit monoclonal, abcam ab46798, dil 1:50). The next day, the antibody was removed and 3 washes with PBS were done, after incubation was performed with the secondary antibodies, anti-mouse (IgG-TRIC LOT: SLBJ3612V, SIGMA), and anti-rabbit (IgG-FITC, LOT: SLBJ6087V, SIGMA) diluted 1:100 in BSA 3%,1h, in dark, after three washes with PBS, and the nuclei were stained with DAPI 1ug/ml in PBS for 1 Min. Finally, the coverslip was mounted and the result was subsequently visualized with confocal microscopy.

2.4 C2C12 Protein extraction

Cells were detached from culture plates using 1X trypsin. After 5 minutes the action of the trypsin was interrupted by adding in ratio 1:1 DMEM Gutamax + 10% FBS. The cells were centrifuged at 500 x g for 5 minutes, 4 ° C. The supernatant was discarded and a wash was performed with PBS 1x (W/O Ca⁺⁺, Mg⁺⁺), spin again at 500 x g, 5 minutes, 4 °C. Finally the pellet was resuspended in 100uL of RIPA buffer (25mM Tris-HCl pH 7.6, 150mM NaCl - 1% NP-40, 1% sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS) with Protease Inhibitor Cocktail (cOmplete ULTRA Tablets, Mini, EDTA-free, EASYpack by Roche) for 1h on ice for cell lysis, then centrifuged at 12,000 x g, 20 minutes, 4 °C. Once the proteins were extracted, they were quantified through QubitTM fluorometer (Invitrogen) to use the samples for western blot analysis.

2.5 Nanovesicles Isolation

The isolation of extracellular vesicles from the culture medium was done with, using a Total Exosomes Isolation kit ((TEI) invitrogen). Briefly, the cell medium was first Centrifuged at 300 x g, 10 min, + 4 °C, to remove cells; a second centrifugation step was done at 2,500 x g, 30 min, +4 °C to remove dead cells. The culture medium was concentrated using concentrator tubes VIVASPIN®20, 10k centrifugal concentrator filters (Sartorius, 10,000 MWCO PES, REF_VS2001) by centrifuging the samples at 5.000 g, 16 minutes, at 4 °C. The starting volume was 24ml for each experimental condition (C2C12-CN, C2C12-MOCK, C2C12-HSPDI), and was concentrated to obtain a final volume of 1mL. Subsequently 500uL of Total Exosome Isolation was added to these concentrated media for each sample. Once the mix was prepared, the samples were incubated overnight at 4 ° C. The following day the samples were centrifuged at 10,000 g, 1h at 4°C. The supernatant was discarded and the pellet was lysed in 100uL of RIPA buffer with Protease Inhibitor Cocktail, 1h on ice for lysis, then centrifuged at 12,000 x g, 20 minutes, 4°C. Finally, the protein quantization was done with QubitTM fluorometer (Invitrogen) for western blot analyses.

2.6 Western Blot

Cells and extracellular vesicles were lysed in RIPA buffer for protein extraction, are previously described. Protein samples were mixed with 10X sample buffer and denatured for 5 min at 95 ° C and loaded onto a 12% SDS-PAGE gels. After the Electrophoresis, proteins were transferred onto a nitrocellulose membrane (Nitrocellulose Membrane Filter Paper Sandwich 0.45 μ m) checked with Red Ponceau and blocked for 1h at room temperature with 5% BSA in Tris-buffered saline/0.05% Tween20 (T-TBS). The membrane was then incubated overnight at 4 °C in gentle shaking with anti-Alix (3A9 sc-53538, mouse monoclonal, Santa Cruz, diluted 1:1000), Anti-Hsp60 (K-2, SC-1722, Santa cruz, mouse, diluted 1:1000). Anti-GAPDH (ABS15, LOT: 3557958, Millipore Corp, rabbit, diluted 1:1000). All diluted in 0,5% BSA in T-TBS. The secondary antibody used
are, anti-mouse (Gt X Ms IgG (H+L), LOT: 0605031259 AP124P, Chemicon International, Fisher Scientific) and anti-Rabbit IgG antibody, GTX26795, LOT: 821502963) diluted 1:10000 in 0,5% BSA in T-TBS 1X. The signal was detected by manual development in the dark room.

2.7 Scanning and transmission electron microscopy (STEM)

The culture medium obtained from C2C12 cells (10ml) was centrifuged at 2500 x g for 30 minutes to eliminate cell debris and cells left in suspension. Subsequently using polyethersulfurone concentrator tubes with 10000 MWCO Vivaspin[®] filter, the sample was concentrated to a final volume of 1ml. The obtained sample was resuspended with 0.5 ml of total exosomes isolation kit (Invitrogen) and left incubating at 4°C overnight. The following day the sample was centrifuged for 1 h at 10,000 X g, the supernatant was discarded and the pellet containing the extracellular vesicles was resuspended in 30ul of 1x PBS (W/O Ca⁺⁺, Mg⁺⁺). With a micropipette the sample was poured dropwise onto the copper grids (3mm diameter) and dried, then 1% uranyl acetate was used for 5 minutes of incubation in the dark, two washes with methanol were carried out for 5 minutes and allowed to dry. Using Reynolds' solution, the sample was incubated in the dark for 3 minutes and then washed with distilled water twice for 5 minutes. After being dried, the sample was ready for transmission and scanning electron microscope (STEM) observation.

2.8 In vivo model

The study was carried out using 64 mice, Seven-week-old male balb/c mice, that were divided into two groups, trained (TR) and sedentary (SED). During the first two weeks

habituation was performed by first placing the mice on the rotarod for a few minutes. The speed was then gradually increased to ensure that the mice became familiar with running. Two mice were initially inoculated with pieces of thawed colon tumor, and the grown tumor was used to inoculate the other groups. The two groups, trained and sedentary, were further divided into mice that received colon tumor fragments (C26) inoculation (T+), via dorsal subcutaneous injection, and mice that did not receive tumor inoculum (T-). After tumor inoculation the training and treatment period began. During the treatment period we administered Physiactisome once a week before training 10ul of PHY (0.01 mg/mL of proteins) and 10ul of PLA by intramuscular injection into the hind legs of the mouse. In this way we organized a total of 8 groups; SED T- PLA, SED T- PHY, TR T- PLA, TR T- PHY, SED T+ PLA, SED T+ PHY, TR T+ PHY, TR T+ PLA (fig. 9). After tumor inoculation, mice were subjected to daily progressive resistance training (TRP) on the rotarod (5 days/week), described as follows; (third week, 30 minutes, speed 4 m/min), (fourth week, 45 minutes, speed 4.8m/min), (fifth week, 60 minutes, speed 4.8m/min) (fig.10). The animals were checked and weighed daily, when the animal exceeded a weight loss of 9%, confirming the cachectic spectrum of mice with the tumor, it was weighed and sacrificed by cervical dislocation. Organs and tissues; heart, liver, spleen, lungs, kidney, brain, tumor, gastrocnemius, soleus, tibialis were removed and weighed, some samples were frozen in liquid nitrogen and others were embedded in paraffin for further study.



Figure 9 Schematic organization of the group of mice for the in vivo experiment

Week	Time (min)	Rotarod Speed (m/min)
1	Handling	
2	Handling	
3	30	4
4	45	4,8
5	60	4,8

Figure 10 The table shows the progressive resistance training program (TRP) on the rotarod to which the mice were subjected after inoculation and tumor growth.

The gastrocnemius muscle was harvested from each mouse during surgery. After being weighed, the organs were preserved in formalin. We performed the protocol for embedding the samples in paraffin. The organs individually were placed in plastic boxes, washed in water and subsequently placed in 70% ethanol. After 24 hours they were placed in 96% ethanol for 12 hours, then in 100% ethanol for 2 hours, 3 hours in xylene at RT, and then they were incubated in a paraffin oven at 65°C for 3 hours. After that the samples were placed in metal boxes filled with paraffin at 65°C and allowed to cool at room temperature overnight. From the samples fixed in paraffin blocks we obtained the slides with sections of the gastrocnemius muscle (thickness 5um), the sections were obtained by microtome cutting and placed on polylysine slides (Thermo ScientificTM) and dried at RT overnight. Slides obtained with gastrocnemius sections were stained with hematoxylin-eosin. The slides were placed in the oven at 55°C for 15 minutes and then in xylene for 10 minutes, then passed on a decreasing alcohol scale (100%, 95%, 80%) for 5 minutes for each. After being washed in water for 5 minutes they were incubated in hematoxylin (for nuclei staining) for 5 minutes. After being washed in water for 15 minutes they were incubated in eosin (for cytoplasmic staining) for 3 minutes and washed in water for 10 minutes. After making rapid passages in alcohol following an increasing scale (80%, 95%, 100%) the slides were placed in xylene for 5 minutes, and finally, after placing the coverslip, the slides were observed under the optical microscope to investigate the structure and size of muscle fibers.

2.10 Gastrocnemius western blot analysis

During surgery on mice, a portion of the tissue, gastrocnemius, after being weighed was frozen in liquid nitrogen for further investigation. These frozen gastrocnemius samples were subsequently processed for protein extraction. The tissues placed in 1.5 ml tubes were

homogenized and lysed using pestles and a lysis solution, 100uL of RIPA buffer (25mM Tris-HCl pH 7.6, 150mM NaCl - 1% NP-40, 1% sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS) + Protease Inhibitor Cocktail (complete ULTRA Tablets, Mini, EDTA-free, EASY pack by Roche in a ratio of 2:100) for each sample. The samples were processed for 30 minutes on ice and resuspended every 10 minutes, and then 30 minutes at -20°C. Subsequently, the samples were centrifuged at 13,500 x g, 20 minutes, 4 °C, the pellet containing the cell debris was discarded and the supernatant of each sample containing the protein part was taken and stored at -20°C. Protein samples were subsequently analyzed using the Qubit® Fluorometer spectrophotometer (Invitrogen) for protein quantization. From each sample, 45ug of protein was used for western blot analysis to investigate Hsp60, PGC-1 α and Myo-D protein expression. The intensity signal was analyzed with ImageJ software.

2.11 Statistical analyses

Data were analyzed using Unpaired T for the analysis of western blots, in the in-vivo study the data were analyzed with ANOVA test ,and Tukey's multiple comparison test was performed, all data were analyzed in triplicate for each group. All data are presented as the means \pm SD, and the level of statistical significance was set at p<0.05*, p<0.001***, p<0.0001***. GraphPad Prism 8.0.1 software (GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, California, USA).

Results

3.1 Double-Immunofluorescence (IF) C2C12 cells post transfection

To evaluate whether the cell transfection occurred correctly, double immunofluorescence for DDK-flag and Hsp60 was performed on C2C12 cells. IF was done using anti-DDK-flag antibody. In figure11a, the IF carried out on control cells (C2C12 CN) shows negativity for the DDK-flag antibody. Cells transfected with a pcDNA3.1 (**fig.11b**) and cells transfected with the empty PCMV-6-Entry plasmid (**fig.13 c**) are negative for DDK-flag. Figure 11d shows positivity for DDK-flag for C2C12 HSPD1 cells transfected with the plasmid, Pcmv-6-Entry HSPD1-DDK.



Figure 11: IF for anti-DDK flag performed on C2C12 cells transfected by electroporation. Control cells are negative (a), it is possible to observe the positivity of C2C12 HSPD1 that have been transfected with the plasmid Pcmv-6-Entry HSPD1-DDK-flag (d).

The IF for Hsp60 performed on C2C12 cells transfected with EP, shows that C2C12 HSPD1 (**fig.14 d**) cells have a greater presence of the Hsp60 protein than CN and MOCK and pcDNA3.1 cells.



Figure 12: IF for anti-Hsp60 performed on C2C12 cells transfected by electroporation. Control cells are weakly positive for Hsp60 (a), it is possible to observe that C2C12 HSPD1 transfected with the Pcmv-6-Entry HSPD1-DDK-flag plasmid (a) show greater expression of Hsp60 protein.

The merged images of the immunofluorescences obtained for DDK and Hsp60 are shown in Figure 13.



Figure 13: In the image it is possible to observe the merge of DDK + Hsp60. This can be appreciated in particular in the image (d) C2C12 HSPD1, where both proteins are more expressed.

3.2 Westernblot for C2C12 cells post transfection

Cell lysates from C2C12 cells were analyzed by western blot to investigate expression levels of Hsp60. In figure 14a it is possible to observe the developments of the WB carried out for the cell lysates. Densitometric analysis (fig.14b) was performed using ImageJ to evaluate the expression of the samples. It is possible to observe that Hsp60 is significantly expressed in the sample obtained from the C2C12 HSPD1 treated with the plasmid compared to the other samples control.



Figure 14: (a)The figure shows the expression of Hsp60 of the cell lysates from the western blot. 50ug of protein was loaded for each sample. (b) The graph shows the densitometric analysis of Hsp60 which is significantly expressed in the electroporated C2C12 transfected with the plasmid to over-express the heat shock protein 60.

3.3 Scanning and transmission electron microscopy (STEM), nanovesicles (NVs) from physiactisome

According to the previously described protocol, the EVs were isolated from the culture medium from electroporated cells (physiactisome), and the sample obtained was used to prepare the copper grids (3 mm diameter) to be observed at the STEM. As shown in the figure 15 obtained from scanning and transmission electron microscopy, the presence of extracellular vesicles with a diameter of about 50-80nm obtained from the culture medium can be observed.



Figure 15: Nanovesicles from physiactisome observed by scanning and transmission electron microscopy (STEM)

According to the previously described lysis protocol, nanovesicles were lysed to isolate their protein content. Using an immunoblotting technique, the samples obtained were used to characterize the isolated extracellular vesicles. The development of immunoblotting obtained from western blot for ALIX (nanovesicle marker), Hsp60, and GAPDH is shown in figure 16 a. Figure 16c shows the densitometric analysis of the expression of all samples of both nanovesicles and cells, which are positive for ALIX. In figure 16b, the densitometric analysis of the Hsp60 expression levels is shown; in the sample of nanovesicles obtained from physiactisome, a significant increase in Hsp60 expression is observed compared to controls.



Figure 16: The images show the developments of the membranes obtained from the western blot for Hsp60, ALIX and GAPDH (a). 50ug of protein was loaded for each sample. The graphs show the results of densitometric analysis of Hsp60 (b) and ALIX (c). P<0.05*, P<0.0001***.

3.5 Hystologial comparison response to treatment in vivo

The analysis of data obtained from hematoxylin-eosin staining (fig.17, fig.18) of the gastrocnemius muscles (number of replicates n=3 for each group) documented a significant increase in the cross-sectional area of the muscles, this was observed for the trained group and in trained-physiactisome treated group compared to the sedentary. This result was obtained in both the tumor-free and cachectic mice (fig.19). It is also interesting to note that the CSA values in the groups of tumor-bearing mice, TR T+ PLA, TR T+ PHY and SED T+ PHY, do not present significant differences (ns), compared to the groups without cancer (fig. 20).



Figure 17 The image shows the hematoxylin-eosin staining performed on gastrocnemius tissue samples from the group of mice without tumor (sedentary without tumor placebo (SED TLA), sedentary without tumor physiactisome (SED T- PHY), trained without tumor placebo (TR T- PLA), trained without tumor physiactisome (TR T- PHY)).



Figure 18 The image shows the hematoxylin-eosin staining performed on gastrocnemius tissue samples from the group of mice inoculated with the tumor (sedentary with tumor placebo (SED T+ PLA), sedentary with tumor physiactisome (SED T+ PHY), trained with tumor placebo (TR T+ PLA), trained with tumor physiactisome (TR T- PHY).



Figure 19 The graph shows the muscle fibers CSA values of all groups of mice, with and without tumor. An analysis of the values of the trained groups compared to the sedentary groups was carried out which shows an increase in CSA in the TR groups. Significance $P<0.05^*$, $P<0.001^{**}$, $P<0.0001^{***}$.



Figure 20: Comparison of cross-sectional area analysis between, (a) sedentary group tumor-free mice treated with PHY (SED T- PHY) and mice group with tumor, PHY treated (SED T+ PHY). (b) trained tumor-free mice (TR T- PLA) and mice with tumor trained (TR T+ PLA). (c) tumor-free mice trained and treated with PHY (TR T- PHY) and mice with tumor trained and treated with PHY (TR T+ PHY).

Furthermore, it was documented that the CSA of muscles from sedentary cachectic mice treated with physiactisome (SED T+ PHY) was significantly greater than muscles from untreated cachectic mice SED T+ PLA (fig. 21). In figure 21a it is possible to observe that the SED T+ PLA group presents a clear reduction of the muscle fiber bundles (black arrow) due to the cachectic syndrome.



Figure 21 Comparison of CSA values obtained between groups of sedentary tumor-free placebo mice (SED T-PLA) and sedentary with tumor (SED T+ PLA)(b). Comparison between SED T+ PLA mice and sedentary with tumors treated with physiactisome (SED T+ PHY)(c). In figure 21a it is possible to observe that the SED T+ PLA group presents a clear reduction of the muscle fiber bundles (black arrow).

3.6 Molecular response to the treatment: Hsp60 expression

Quantification of Hsp60 proteins through the westerblot technique showed that in the group of tumor-free mice, Physiactisome administration (SED T- PHY) significantly increases Hsp60 levels compared to untreated and untrained mice (SED T- PLA). The same result was found in mice trained and treated with physiactisome (TR T+ PHY) compared to the control (SED T- PLA) (fig.22b). Training alone does not show a significant increase in Hsp60 compared to the sedentary group without tumor and without treatment (SED T- PLA) (fig.22b). The level of Hsp60 protein expression in cachectic mice was significantly reduced following physiactsome administration combined with exercise (TR T+ PHY). Single treatments (TR T+ PLA, SED T+ PHY) did not show a significant increase in Hsp60 (fig. 23c).



Figure 22 Western blot analysis for Hsp60 expression in gastrocnemius muscles(a). 40ug of protein was loaded for each sample. The values obtained from the densitometric analysis for the groups of trained and sedentary tumor-free (T-) mice are shown (b). The values obtained from the densitometric analysis can be observed for the groups of trained and sedentary mice with tumor (T+) (c).

3.7 Molecular response to the treatment: PGC-1 and Myo-d expression

The response to physiactisome and/or training treatments appears not to have involved the expression of PGC-1 in the gastrocnemius (fig. 23)



Figure 23 Western blot analysis for PGC-1 α expression in gastrocnemius muscles. 40ug of protein was loaded for each sample

Furthermore, the expression of the Myo-D protein level of the SED T+ PHY, TR T+ PLA, TR T+ PHY groups does not undergo variations and maintains a value comparable to the groups of mice without tumors (fig. 24). Only a significant reduction in Myo-D expression is observed in the SED T+ PLA group compared to the TR T- PLA (fig. 25).



Figure 24 Western blot analysis for Myo-D expression in gastrocnemius muscles. 40ug of protein was loaded for each sample.



Figure 25 Comparison of Myo-D expression which appears to be significantly reduced in the SED T+ PLA group compared to the TR T- PLA group.

Discussion

In this study, we aimed to investigate the condition known as cachectic syndrome following two types of treatments: physical exercise and the use of treatment involving the use of nanovesicles containing Hsp60 (physiactisome; PHY). The PHY vesicles were obtained from the culture medium derived from C2C12 cells that had been transfected via electroporation with the pCMV6-Entry-HSPD1 plasmid. I showed the production of physiactisome and it was confirmed by western blot analysis and immunofluorescence staining of transfected C2C12 cells. The nanovesicles from PHY were isolated and observed by scanning transmission electron microscopy (STEM). Furthermore, using western blot techniques, the presence of ALIX (nanovesicle marker) was observed in nanovesicles, it was also demonstrated that there was a significant content of Hsp60 inside the nanovesicles compared to the control that did not undergo transfection. It is known that physical training has a positive effect on the recovery of muscle mass in wasting conditions (Bowen TS et al., 2015; Graham ZA et al., 2021). Exercise also has effects on the immune system and on the release of cytokines, playing a role in the control of pro- and antiinflammatory proteins (Pedersen BK et al., 2000; Rhind SG et al., 2002), is able to reduce pro-inflammatory cytokine expression, mainly of TNF and IL-6. (Jaworska J et al., 2020; Calle MC et al., 2010). There is some evidence to suggest that exercise training may be beneficial during the treatment of cachexia and for survival (Hardee JP et al., 2017; Halle JL et al., 2020). On the other hand, it is important to develop new therapeutic strategies, as in certain clinical conditions it is not always possible to use physical exercise. In this study, I documented through the results obtained from the analysis of the cross-section area (CSA) of the gastrocnemius muscles stained with hematoxylin-eosin, that physical training and treatment with physiactisome help to preserve the muscle fibers from cachexia. In fact, in all trained groups both treated with physiactysome or placebo (TR T- PLA, TR T- PHY, TR T+ PLA, TR T+ PHY) a significant increase in the cross-sectional area of the muscle fibers was observed. It should be underlined that the CSA of the muscle fibers of the groups of cachectic mice, subjected to training and/or treatment with physiactisome; SED T+ PHY, TR T+ PHY, TR T+ PLA, show values comparable to the cross-section areas of the groups of mice without tumors. Furthermore, it was observed that the CSA of the group of cachectic mice treated with physiactisome (SED T+ PHY) had a significant increase compared to the sedentary cachectic group without treatment (SED T+ PLA), although a

notably greater and statistically significant increase in cross-sectional area was observed in the groups of tumor-bearing mice subjected to training alone (TR T+ PLA) and those that received physactisome treatment in conjunction with training (TR T+ PHY) when compared to the untreated cachectic mice.

Skeletal muscle training is responsible for a strong increase of heat shock proteins (HSPs) (like Hsp60), and their overexpression can lead to protection against and improvements after a variety of stressor factors (Venojärvi M et al., 2007; Nussbaum EL et al., 2007, Geiger PC et al., 2011). Furthermore, following resistance exercise, with mice for 6 weeks trained, increased Hsp60 levels were obtained, mainly observed in the soleus muscle (rich in MHC-I slow fibers) and in the blood. Type MHC-IIb fibers, on the other hand, showed lower levels of Hsp60 than any other fiber type (Barone R. et al., 2016). Based on the data available in the literature, in this study, I used western blot analysis to investigate the expression of Hsp60 in the gastrocnemius muscle of animals subjected to physical endurance training and/or physactysome treatment. Among the groups of mice without tumors, a significant increase in Hsp60 expression is observed in the groups of sedentary mice treated with physiactisome (SED T-PHY) and in mice treated with physiactisome and trained (TR T-PHY) compared to the control. So probably in healthy subjects physiactisome could be involved or support pathways stimulated by physical exercise. However, a significant increase in Hsp60 was not observed in the group of healthy trained mice (TR T-PLA) compared to the control. This could probably be due to the type of aerobic resistance training supported by the gastrocnemius muscle, which is a muscle made up mainly of fast fibers that carry out a predominantly anaerobic activity, in fact, the gastrocnemius muscle is composed primarily of MHCIIB-type fibers and has been shown to have lower levels of Hsp60 after resistance training than MHCI type fibers (Barone R. et al., 2016). Instead, in the group of mice with the tumor, contrary to what was expected, a notable reduction in the expression of Hsp60 was observed in the trained groups and treated with physiactisome compared to the sedentary ones. On the basis of the data collected, we do not have the possibility to understand why the contribution of the physiactysome treatment, which we have seen have a positive effect in the groups of healthy mice, did not have the same effect in the mice with tumors; one of the possible causes is that probably the concentration of the physiactisome was not sufficient in a pathological condition such as cancer cachexia to guarantee a stable increase in Hsp60 in the gastrocnemius muscle. As mentioned previously it is possible to hypothesize a close link between Hsp60 and PGC1a. In myoblast cell cultures following the overexpression of

Hsp60, an increase in the expression of the PGC1 α isoform was observed (Barone et al., 2016).

In this study, the expression levels of PGC1 α in the gastrocnemius muscle were studied by western blot analysis, but from the results obtained in none of the groups were changes in the levels of PGC-1 α observed. It is known that the number of mitochondria is greater in tissues with MHCI fibers and less present in tissues with MHCIIB fibers. So probably due to the type of endurance training done by the mice, no variations are observed for PGC-1 α in the different groups, and the muscle maintains a basal activity. PGC1 α expression appears to be altered neither by the increase in Hsp60 observed in groups of tumor-free trained mice, nor by the reduction in Hsp60 observed in groups of tumor-trained mice (TR T+ PHY). Further investigation for Hsp60 and PGC1 α expression should be conducted in other muscles, such as the soleus, which is characterized by its fibrous composition rich in MHCI-type fibers and mitochondria, and it is likely to have been more stimulated by the resistance training protocol employed in this study.

It is well established that physical exercise can stimulate the activity of muscle-resident stem cells, specifically the satellite cells (SCs) (Kadi F. et al., 2004; (Kvorning T. et al., 2015). Following the stimulus, the SCs emerge from their quiescent state and begin to proliferate and differentiate, one of the key proteins involved in the differentiation of muscle cells is Myoblast Determination Protein (Myo-D). (Kong Y. Et al., 1997; Legerlotz K et al., 2008; Bazgir B et al., 2017). Consequently, in response to appropriate environmental stimuli, the myogenic program can be initiated, leading to a reduction in the expression of Pax3 and Pax7, accompanied by a gradual upregulation of Myf5 and MyoD expression, thereby facilitating myogenesis (Hernandez-Torres F.H. et 2017). It is established that within the muscle tissue, a balance exists between catabolism and anabolism, primarily governed by the activity of the FoxO protein, which oversees the protein degradation pathway (atrophy) (Sandri M. et al., 2004), and the mTOR protein complex, which governs the protein synthesis pathway (hypertrophy) (Ogasawara R et al., 2019). Physiologically, the protein kinase AKT inhibits the activity of FOXO, thereby promoting protein synthesis. Furthermore, FOXO, in addition to its role in regulating pathways associated with protein degradation, is also involved in modulating myogenesis by interacting with the activity of MyoD (Xu M et al., 2017). In cancer cachexia, FOXO activity is upregulated leading to the inhibition of MyoD activity and activating the ubiquitin-proteasome system UPS, thereby promoting protein degradation (Yang W 2020).

Therefore, in this study, additional investigation was conducted to assess the expression of the MyoD protein in the gastrocnemius muscle through the utilization of the western blot technique. It was observed that the Myo-D protein expression levels in SED T+ PHY, TR T+ PHY, TR T+ PLA cachectic groups have a similar expression trend compared to the groups of mice without tumors. In fact, no significant differences are observed between these groups. On the other hand, it was observed that the group of untreated sedentary cachettitic mice (SED T+ PLA) showed a significant decrease in Myo-D expression compared to the TR T- PHY group. Probably both physical activity and treatment with physactisomes will have had a possible positive effect by preserving the satellite cells of the gastrocnemius muscle fibers in the groups of cachectic mice. To learn more and better understand this data, further investigations are needed both on other factors regulating myogenesis and on satellite cells.

Conclusion

This study showed the preparation and characterization of the product nanovesicle-based anticachectic drug containing Hsp60 (physiactisome). Furthermore, it has been demonstrated that following treatment with training and/or administration of physactysomes in cachectic mice, the gastrocnemius muscle fibers are preserved, confirmed by the significant increase in the cross-section area of the muscle fibers. The vesicles obtained from C2C12 following cell transfection may contain other cell-derived components such RNA or proteins other than Hsp60. Therefore, future studies regarding the action of heat shock protein 60 are necessary to better understand whether the effect of the vesicles in vivo is mediated by Hsp60 or by other possible factors contained in the vesicles. From a molecular point of view, Myo-D expression levels in the gastrocnemius muscle of mice with cachexia subjected to training and/or physactisome treatment appear preserved and show expression comparable to Myo-D levels of healthy mice. A significant increase in Hsp60 was observed following treatment with physiactisom and/or training in groups of tumor-free mice, however, this result was not repeated in the cachectic trained groups, and this leads to the hypothesis that probably the concentration of the drug must probably be modulated to better adapt it to the pathological condition of cachexia.

References

- A., Kasprzak. "The Role of Tumor Microenvironment Cells in Colorectal Cancer (CRC) Cachexia." Int J Mol Sci., 2021.
- A., MAURO. "Satellite cell of skeletal muscle fibers." J Biophys Biochem Cytol., 1961.
- A.L., Horwich. "Protein folding in the cell: An inside story." Nat. Med., 2011.
- Acharyya S, Ladner KJ, Nelsen LL, Damrauer J, Reiser PJ, Swoap S, Guttridge DC. "Cancer cachexiais regulated by selective targeting of skeletal muscle gene products." *J Clin Invest.*, 2004.
- AJ., Macario. "Heat-shock proteins and molecular chaperones: implications for pathogenesis, diagnostics, and therapeutics." *Int J Clin Lab Res.*, 1995.
- Akbar A, Malekian F, Baghban N, Kodam SP, Ullah M. "Methodologies to Isolate and Purify Clinical Grade Extracellular Vesicles for Medical Applications." *Cells*, 2022.
- Ali S, Garcia JM. "Sarcopenia, cachexia and aging: diagnosis, mechanisms and therapeutic options a mini-review." *Gerontology.*, 2014.
- Alizadeh Pahlavani H, Laher I, Knechtle B, Zouhal H. "Exercise and mitochondrial mechanisms in patients with sarcopenia." *Front Physiol.*, 2022.
- An HJ, Tizaoui K, Terrazzino S, Cargnin S, Lee KH, Nam SW, Kim JS, Yang JW, Lee JY, Smith L, Koyanagi A, Jacob L, Li H, Shin JI, Kronbichler A. "Sarcopenia in Autoimmune and Rheumatic Diseases: A Comprehensive Review." *nt J Mol Sci.*, 2020.
- Anker MS, Holcomb R, Muscaritoli M, von Haehling S, Haverkamp W, Jatoi A, Morley JE, Strasser F, Landmesser U, Coats AJS, Anker SD. "Orphan disease status of cancer cachexia in the USA and in the European Union: a systematic review." *J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle.*, 2019.
- Aoyagi T, Terracina KP, Raza A, Matsubara H, Takabe K. "Cancer cachexia, mechanism and treatment." *World J Gastrointest Oncol.*, 2015.
- AP., Russell. "PGC-1alpha and exercise: important partners in combating insulin resistance." *Curr Diabetes Rev.*, 2005.
- Archer AE, Von Schulze AT, Geiger PC. "Exercise, heat shock proteins and insulin resistance." *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci.*, 2018.
- Argilés JM, Fontes-Oliveira CC, Toledo M, López-Soriano FJ, Busquets S. "Cachexia: a problem of energetic inefficiency." *J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle.*, 2014.
- Atherton PJ, Smith K. "Muscle protein synthesis in response to nutrition and exercise." *J Physiol.*, 2012.
- Baci D., Chirivì M, Pace V, Maiullari F, Milan M, Rampin A, Somma P, Presutti D, Garavelli S, Bruno A, Cannata S, Lanzuolo C, Gargioli C, Rizzi R, Bearzi C. "Extracellular Vesicles from Skeletal Muscle Cells Efficiently Promote Myogenesis in Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells." *Cells*, 2020.

- Balasubramanian S, Johnston RK, Moschella PC, Mani SK, Tuxworth WJ Jr, Kuppuswamy D. "mTOR in growth and protection of hypertrophying myocardium." *Cardiovasc Hematol Agents Med Chem.*, 2009.
- Baracos VE, Martin L, Korc M, Guttridge DC, Fearon KCH. "Cancer-associated cachexia." *Nat Rev Dis Primers.*, 2018.
- Barone R, Macaluso F, Sangiorgi C, Campanella C, Marino Gammazza A, Moresi V, Coletti D, Conway de Macario E, Macario AJ, Cappello F, Adamo S, Farina F, Zummo G, Di Felice V. "Skeletal muscle Heat shock protein 60 increases after endurance training and induces peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1 α1 expression." *Sci Rep.*, 2016.
- Batterham MJ, Garsia R. "A comparison of megestrol acetate, nandrolone decanoate and dietary counselling for HIV associated weight loss." *Int J Androl.*, 2001.
- Bazgir B, Fathi R, Rezazadeh Valojerdi M, Mozdziak P, Asgari A. "Satellite Cells Contribution to Exercise Mediated Muscle Hypertrophy and Repair." *Cell J.*, 2017.
- Ben-Yair R, Kalcheim C. "Lineage analysis of the avian dermomyotome sheet reveals the existence of single cells with both dermal and muscle progenitor fates." *Development.*, 2005.
- Bermejo JL, Valldecabres R, Villarrasa-Sapiña I, Monfort-Torres G, Marco-Ahulló A, Ribeiro Do Couto B. "Increased cortisol levels caused by acute resistance physical exercise impair memory and learning ability." *PeerJ.*, 2022.
- Bhatia S., 2016. Nanoparticles Types, Classification, Characterization, Fabrication Methods and Drug Delivery Applications. © Springer International Publishing Switzerland, 2016.
- Bie AS, Cömert C, Körner R, Corydon TJ, Palmfeldt J, Hipp MS, Hartl FU, Bross P. "An inventory of interactors of the human HSP60/HSP10 chaperonin in the mitochondrial matrix space." *Cell Stress Chaperones.*, 2020.
- Bolaños P, Calderón JC. "Excitation-contraction coupling in mammalian skeletal muscle: Blending old and last-decade research." *Front Physiol.*, 2022.
- BonifacioA, Sanvee GM, Brecht K, Kratschmar DV, Odermatt A, Bouitbir J, Krähenbühl S. "IGF-1 prevents simvastatin-induced myotoxicity in C2C12 myotubes." *Arch Toxicol*, 2017.
- BorowczakJ, Szczerbowski K, Maniewski M, Kowalewski A, Janiczek-Polewska M, Szylberg A, Marszałek A, Szylberg Ł. "The Role of Inflammatory Cytokines in the Pathogenesis of Colorectal Carcinoma-Recent Findings and Review." *Biomedicines.*, 2022.
- Bossola M, Muscaritoli M, Costelli P, Grieco G, Bonelli G, Pacelli F, Rossi Fanelli F, Doglietto GB, Baccino FM. "Increased muscle proteasome activity correlates with disease severity in gastric cancer patients." *Ann Surg.*, 2003.
- Böttinger L, Oeljeklaus S, Guiard B, Rospert S, Warscheid B, Becker T. "Mitochondrial heat shock protein (Hsp) 70 and Hsp10 cooperate in the formation of Hsp60 complexes." *J Biol Chem.*, 2015.
- Bowen TS, Schuler G, Adams V. "Skeletal muscle wasting in cachexia and sarcopenia: molecular pathophysiology and impact of exercise training." *J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle.*, 2015.
- Brakhage AA, Zimmermann AK, Rivieccio F, Visser C, Blango MG. "Host-derived extracellular vesicles for antimicrobial defense." *Microlife.*, 2021.
- Brown AK, Webb AE. "Regulation of FOXO Factors in Mammalian Cells." *Curr Top Dev Biol.*, 2018.
- Buckingham M, Bajard L, Chang T, Daubas P, Hadchouel J, Meilhac S, Montarras D, Rocancourt D, Relaix F. "The formation of skeletal muscle: from somite to limb." *J Anat.*, 2003.

- Burfeind KG, Yadav V, Marks DL. "Hypothalamic Dysfunction and Multiple Sclerosis: Implications for Fatigue and Weight Dysregulation." *Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep.*, 2016.
- Burney BO, Hayes TG, Smiechowska J, Cardwell G, Papusha V, Bhargava P, Konda B, Auchus RJ, Garcia JM. "Low testosterone levels and increased inflammatory markers in patients with cancer and relationship with cachexia." *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.*, 2012.
- Calle MC, Fernandez ML. "Effects of resistance training on the inflammatory response." *Nutr Res Pract.*, 2010.
- Cappello F., Conway de Macario E., Marasa L., Zummo G., Macario A.J. "Hsp60 expression, new locations, functions and perspectives for cancer diagnosis and therapy." *Cancer Biol. Ther.*, 2008.
- Caruso Bavisotto C., Alberti G., Vitale A.M., Paladino L., Campanella C., Rappa F., Gorska M., Conway de Macario E., Cappello F., Macario A.J.L.,. "Hsp60 Post-translational Modifications: Functional and Pathological Consequences." *Front. Mol. Biosci.*, 2020.
- Castro BM, Prieto M, Silva LC. "Ceramide: a simple sphingolipid with unique biophysical properties." *Prog Lipid Res.*, 2014.
- Chal J, Pourquié O. "Making muscle: skeletal myogenesis in vivo and in vitro." *Development.*, 2017.
- Chandra D., Choy G., Tang D.G. "Cytosolic accumulation of HSP60 during apoptosis with or without apparent mitochondrial release: Evidence that its pro-apoptotic or pro-survival functions involve differential interactions with caspase-3." *J. Biol. Chem.*, 2007.
- Chang HR, Dulloo AG, Bistrian BR. "Role of cytokines in AIDS wasting." Nutrition., 1998.
- Chargé SB, Rudnicki MA. "Cellular and molecular regulation of muscle regeneration." *Physiol Rev.*, 2004.
- Chen L, Qin Y, Liu B, Gao M, Li A, Li X, Gong G. "PGC-1α-Mediated Mitochondrial Quality Control: Molecular Mechanisms and Implications for Heart Failure." Front Cell Dev Biol., 2022.
- Chen, J., Zhou, R., Feng, Y. et al. "Molecular mechanisms of exercise contributing to tissue regeneration." *Sig Transduct Target Ther*, 2022.
- Cheng M.Y., Hartl F.U., Martin J., Pollock R.A., Kalousek F., Neupert W., Hallberg E.M., Hallberg R.L., Horwich A.L. "Mitochondrial heat-shock protein hsp60 is essential for assembly of proteins imported into yeast mitochondria." *Nature.*, 1989.
- Chonov DC, Ignatova MMK, Ananiev JR, Gulubova MV. "IL-6 Activities in the Tumour Microenvironment. Part 1." *Open Access Maced J Med Sci.*, 2019.
- Ciferri MC, Quarto R, Tasso R. "Extracellular Vesicles as Biomarkers and Therapeutic Tools: From Pre-Clinical to Clinical Applications." *Biology (Basel).*, 2021.
- Clancy JM., Madison Schmidtmann, Crislyn D'Souza-Schorey. "The ins and outs of microvesicles." *FASEB BioAdvances*, 2021.
- Clotilde Théry, Kenneth W Witwer, Elena Aikawa, Maria Jose Alcaraz. "Minimal information for studies of extracellular vesicles 2018 (MISEV2018):a position statement of the International Society for Extracellular Vesicles and update of the MISEV2014 guidelines." 2018.
- Cooper RN, Tajbakhsh S, Mouly V, Cossu G, Buckingham M, Butler-Browne GS. "In vivo satellite cell activation via Myf5 and MyoD in regenerating mouse skeletal muscle." *J Cell Sci.*, 1999.
- Cornelison DD, Olwin BB, Rudnicki MA, Wold BJ. "MyoD(-/-) satellite cells in single-fiber culture are differentiation defective and MRF4 deficient." *Dev Biol.*, 2000.

- Cornelison DD, Wold BJ. "Single-cell analysis of regulatory gene expression in quiescent and activated mouse skeletal muscle satellite cells." *Dev Biol.*, 1997.
- Cortiula F, Hendriks LEL, van de Worp WRPH, Schols AMWJ, Vaes RDW, Langen RCJ, De Ruysscher D. "Physical exercise at the crossroad between muscle wasting and the immune system: implications for lung cancer cachexia." *J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle.*, 2022.
- Covello, G., Siva, K., Adami, V. et al. "An electroporation protocol for efficient DNA transfection in PC12 cells." *Cytotechnology*, 2014.
- CP., Lambert. "Anti-cachexia therapy should target metabolism, inflammatory cytokines, and androgens in hormone-independent cancers." *J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle.*, 2021.
- Currow D, Temel JS, Abernethy A, Milanowski J, Friend J, Fearon KC. "ROMANA 3: a phase 3 safety extension study of anamorelin in advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC) patients with cachexia." *Ann Oncol.*, 2017.
- Czarnecka A.M., Campanella C., Zummo G., Cappello F. "Mitochondrial chaperones in cancer: From molecular biology to clinical diagnostics." *Cancer Biol. Ther.*, 2006.
- DA., Hood. "Invited Review: contractile activity-induced mitochondrial biogenesis in skeletal muscle." *J Appl Physiol (1985)*, 2001.
- Dalle Carbonare L, Dorelli G, Li Vigni V, Minoia A, Bertacco J, Cheri S, Deiana M, Innamorati G, Cominacini M, Tarperi C, Schena F, Mottes M, Valenti MT. "Physical Activity Modulates miRNAs Levels and Enhances MYOD Expression in Myoblasts." *Stem Cell Rev Rep.*, 2022.
- Daou N, Hassani M, Matos E, De Castro GS, Costa RGF, Seelaender M, Moresi V, Rocchi M, Adamo S, Li Z, Agbulut O, Coletti D. "Displaced Myonuclei in Cancer Cachexia Suggest Altered Innervation." *Int J Mol Sci.*, 2020.
- Dave HD, Shook M, Varacallo M. "Anatomy, Skeletal Muscle." StatPearls, 2022.
- de Matos-Neto EM, Lima JD, de Pereira WO, Figuerêdo RG, Riccardi DM, Radloff K, das Neves RX, Camargo RG, Maximiano LF, Tokeshi F, Otoch JP, Goldszmid R, Câmara NO, TrinchieriG, de Alcântara PS, Seelaender M. "Systemic Inflammation in Cachexia - Is Tumor Cytokine Expression Profile the Culprit?" *Front Immunol.*, 2015.
- Dekker C, Willison KR, Taylor WR. "On the evolutionary origin of the chaperonins." *Proteins.*, 2011.
- Del Conde I., Shrimpton CN, Thiagarajan P, López JA. "Tissue-factor-bearing microvesicles arise from lipid rafts and fuse with activated platelets to initiate coagulation." *Blood*, 2005.
- Deng F, Miller J. "A review on protein markers of exosome from different bio-resources and the antibodies used for characterization." *J Histotechnol.*, 2019.
- Dewys WD, Begg C, Lavin PT, Band PR, Bennett JM, Bertino JR, Cohen MH, Douglass HO Jr, Engstrom PF, Ezdinli EZ, Horton J, Johnson GJ, Moertel CG, Oken MM, Perlia C, Rosenbaum C, Silverstein MN, Skeel RT, Sponzo RW, Tormey DC. "Prognostic effect of weightloss prior to chemotherapy in cancer patients. Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group." Am J Med., 1980.
- Di Felice V, Barone R, Trovato E, D'Amico D, Macaluso F, Campanella C, Marino Gammazza A, Muccilli V, Cunsolo V, Cancemi P, Multhoff G, Coletti D, Adamo S, Farina F, Cappello F. "Physiactisome: A New Nanovesicle Drug Containing Heat Shock Protein 60 for Treating Muscle Wasting and Cachexia." *Cells*, 2022.
- Doyle LM, Wang MZ. "Overview of Extracellular Vesicles, Their Origin, Composition, Purpose, and Methods for Exosome Isolation and Analysis." *Cells*, 2019.

- DumitruA, Radu BM, Radu M, Cretoiu SM. "Muscle Changes During Atrophy." *Adv Exp Med Biol.*, 2018.
- Ekstrom K., Rossella Crescitelli, Hafsteinn Ingi Pétursson, Junko Johansson, Cecilia Lasser and. "Characterization of surface markers on extracellular vesicles isolated from lymphatic exudate from patients with breast cancer." *BMC Cancer*, 2022.
- Elsherbini A, Bieberich E. "Ceramide and Exosomes: A Novel Target in Cancer Biology and Therapy." *Adv Cancer Res.*, 2018.
- Evans WJ, Morley JE, Argilés J, Bales C, Baracos V, Guttridge D, Jatoi A, Kalantar-Zadeh K, Lochs H, Mantovani G, Marks D, Mitch WE, Muscaritoli M, Najand A, Ponikowski P, Rossi Fanelli F, Schambelan M, Schols A, Schuster M, Thomas D, Wolfe R, Anker SD. "Cachexia: a new definition." *Clin Nutr.*, 2008.
- Fan F, Duan Y, Yang F, Trexler C, Wang H, Huang L, Li Y, Tang H, Wang G, Fang X, Liu J, Jia N, Chen J, Ouyang K. "Deletion of heat shock protein 60 in adult mouse cardiomyocytes perturbs mitochondrial protein homeostasis and causes heart failure." *Cell Death Differ*., 2020.
- Fan Zhao, Luchen Sun , Nanfei Yang , Wei Zheng , Pingping Shen , Yahong Huang, Yan Lu. "Increased release of microvesicles containing mitochondria is associated with the myeloid differentiation of AML-M5 leukaemia cells." *ELSEVIER*, 2020.
- Fearon K, Strasser F, Anker SD, Bosaeus I, Bruera E, Fainsinger RL, Jatoi A, Loprinzi C, MacDonald N, Mantovani G, Davis M, Muscaritoli M, Ottery F, Radbruch L, Ravasco P, Walsh D, Wilcock A, Kaasa S, Baracos VE. "Definition and classification of cancer cachexia: an international consensus." *Lancet Oncol.*, 2011.
- Ferreira LF, Reid MB. "Muscle-derived ROS and thiol regulation in muscle fatigue." *J Appl Physiol*, 1985.
- Finck BN, Kelly DP. "PGC-1 coactivators: inducible regulators of energy metabolism in health and disease." *J Clin Invest.*, 2006.
- Fredrix EW, Soeters PB, Wouters EF, Deerenberg IM, von Meyenfeldt MF, Saris WH. "Energy balance in relation to cancer cachexia." *Clin Nutr.*, 1990.
- Frontera WR, Ochala J. "Skeletal muscle: a brief review of structure and function." *Calcif Tissue Int.*, 2015.
- Gan M, Du J, Shen L, Yang D, Jiang A, Li Q, Jiang Y, Tang G, Li M, Wang J, Li X, Zhang S, Zhu L. "miR-152 regulates the proliferation and differentiation of C2C12 myoblasts by targeting E2F3." *In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim.*, 2018.
- Gao S, Carson JA. "Lewis lung carcinoma regulation of mechanical stretch-induced protein synthesis in cultured myotubes." *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol.*, 2016.
- Garcia JM, Friend J, Allen S. "Therapeutic potential of anamorelin, a novel, oral ghrelin mimetic, in patients with cancer-related cachexia: a multicenter, randomized, double-blind, crossover, pilot study." *Support Care Cancer.*, 2013.
- Geiger PC, Gupte AA. "Heat shock proteins are important mediators of skeletal muscle insulin sensitivity." *Exerc Sport Sci Rev.*, 2011.
- Graham ZA, Lavin KM, O'Bryan SM, Thalacker-Mercer AE, Buford TW, Ford KM, Broderick TJ, Bamman MM. "Mechanisms of exercise as a preventative measure to muscle wasting." *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol.*, 2021.
- Gros J, Manceau M, Thomé V, Marcelle C. "A common somitic origin for embryonic muscle progenitors and satellite cells." *Nature*, 2005.

- Grounds MD, Garrett KL, Lai MC, Wright WE, Beilharz MW. "Identification of skeletal muscle precursor cells in vivo by use of MyoD1 and myogenin probes." *Cell Tissue Res.*, 1992.
- Grunfeld C, Kotler DP, Dobs A, Glesby M, Bhasin S. "Oxandrolone in the treatment of HIVassociated weight loss in men: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study." *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr.*, 2006.
- Guo C, Sun L, Chen X, Zhang D. "Oxidative stress, mitochondrial damage and neurodegenerative diseases." *Neural Regen Res.*, 2013.
- Gupta S, Knowlton AA. "Cytosolic heat shock protein 60, hypoxia, and apoptosis." *Circulation.*, 2002.
- Haddad F., Arnold C., Zeng M., Baldwin K. "Interaction of thyroid state and denervation on skeletal myosin heavy chain expression." *Muscle Nerve.*, 1997.
- Halle JL, Counts BR, Carson JA. "Exercise as a therapy for cancer-induced muscle wasting." *Sports Med Health Sci.*, 2020.
- Halling JF, Jessen H, Nøhr-Meldgaard J, Buch BT, Christensen NM, Gudiksen A, Ringholm S, Neufer PD, Prats C, Pilegaard H. "PGC-1α regulates mitochondrial properties beyond biogenesis with aging and exercise training." *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.*, 2019.
- Hardee JP, Counts BR, Carson JA. "Understanding the Role of Exercise in Cancer Cachexia Therapy." *Am J Lifestyle Med.*, 2017.
- Hardee JP, Fix DK, Wang X, Goldsmith EC, Koh HJ, Carson JA. "Systemic IL-6 regulation of eccentric contraction-induced muscle protein synthesis." *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol.*, 2018.
- He F, Li J, Liu Z, Chuang CC, Yang W, Zuo L. "Redox Mechanism of Reactive Oxygen Species in Exercise." *Front Physiol.*, 2016.
- Henne WM, Buchkovich NJ, Emr SD. "The ESCRT pathway." Dev Cell., 2011.
- Hernandez-Torres F, Rodríguez-Outeiriño L, Franco D, Aranega AE. "Pitx2 in Embryonic and Adult Myogenesis." *Front Cell Dev Biol.*, 2017.
- Hina Kalra, Gregor P. C. Drummen and Suresh Mathivanan. "Focus on Extracellular Vesicles: Introducing the." *Int. J. Mol. Sci.*, 2016.
- HJ, Appell. "Muscular atrophy following immobilisation. A review." Sports Med., 1990.
- HN., Daou. "Exercise as an anti-inflammatory therapy for cancer cachexia: a focus on interleukin-6 regulation." *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol.*, 2020.
- Holloszy JO, Coyle EF. "Adaptations of skeletal muscle to endurance exercise and their metabolic consequences." *J Appl Physiol Respir Environ Exerc Physiol.*, 1984.
- Hoon SN, Fyfe K, Peddle-McIntyre CJ, Bowyer S, Hawkins F, Jeffery E, Chih HJ, Creaney J, Nowak A, Brims F. "Randomised placebo-controlled cross-over study examining the role of anamorelin in mesothelioma (The ANTHEM study): rationale and protocol." *BMJ Open Respir Res.*, 2020.
- Hoppeler H, Flück M. "Normal mammalian skeletal muscle and its phenotypic plasticity." *J Exp Biol.*, 2002.
- Hoppeler H, Vogt M. "Hypoxia training for sea-level performance. Training high-living low." *Adv Exp Med Biol.*, 2001.
- Housley MP, Udeshi ND, Rodgers JT, Shabanowitz J, Puigserver P, Hunt DF, Hart GW. "A PGC-1alpha-O-GlcNAc transferase complex regulates FoxO transcription factor activity in response to glucose." *J Biol Chem.*, 2009.

- Hu C, Yang J, Qi Z, Wu H, Wang B, Zou F, Mei H, Liu J, Wang W, Liu Q. "Heat shock proteins: Biological functions, pathological roles, and therapeutic opportunities." *MedComm*, 2020.
- Hunt LC, Graca FA, Pagala V, Wang YD, Li Y, Yuan ZF, Fan Y, Labelle M, Peng J,. "Demontis F. Integrated genomic and proteomic analyses identify stimulus-dependent molecular changes associated with distinct modes of skeletal muscle atrophy." *Cell Rep.*, 2021.
- Huot JR, Pin F, Chatterjee R, Bonetto A. "PGC1α overexpression preserves muscle mass and function in cisplatin-induced cachexia." *J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle.*, 2022.
- Ikwegbue PC, Masamba P, Oyinloye BE, Kappo AP. "Roles of Heat Shock Proteins in Apoptosis, Oxidative Stress, Human Inflammatory Diseases, and Cancer." *Pharmaceuticals (Basel).*, 2017.
- Inge Katrin Herrmann, Matthew John Andrew Wood and Gregor Fuhrmann. "Extracellular vesicles as a next-generation drug." *Nature Nanotechnology*, 2021: 748–759.
- J., Martin. "Molecular chaperones and mitochondrial protein folding." *J Bioenerg Biomembr.*, 1997.
- Jackman RW, Kandarian SC. "The molecular basis of skeletal muscle atrophy." *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol.*, 2004.
- Jaworska J, Rodziewicz-Flis E, Kortas J, Kozłowska M, Micielska K, Babińska A, Laskowski R, Lombardi G, Ziemann E. "Short-Term Resistance Training Supported by Whole-Body Cryostimulation Induced a Decrease in Myostatin Concentration and an Increase in Isokinetic Muscle Strength." *Int J Environ Res Public Health.*, 2020.
- Jayasinghe ID, Clowsley AH, Munro M, Hou Y, Crossman DJ, Soeller C. "Revealing T-Tubules in Striated Muscle with New Optical Super-Resolution Microscopy Techniquess." *Eur J Transl Myol.*, 2014.
- Ji LL, Yeo D. "Cellular mechanism of immobilization-induced muscle atrophy: A mini review." *Sports Med Health Sci.*, 2019.
- Jiaxin Cai, Junyong Wu, Jiemin Wang, Yongjiang Li, Xiongbin Hu, Shifu Luo, Daxiong Xiang. "Extracellular vesicles derived from diferent sources of mesenchymal stem cells: therapeutic efects and translational potential." *Cell & Bioscience*, 2020.
- Johnstone R.M., M Adam, J R Hammond, L Orr, C Turbide. "Vesicle formation during reticulocyte maturation. Association of plasma membrane activities with released vesicles (exosomes)." *THE JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTR*, 1987.
- Judge SM, Wu CL, Beharry AW, Roberts BM, Ferreira LF, Kandarian SC, Judge AR. "Genomewide identification of FoxO-dependent gene networks in skeletal muscle during C26 cancer cachexia." *BMC Cancer.*, 2014.
- Jung S, Kim K. "Exercise-induced PGC-1α transcriptional factors in skeletal muscle." *Integr Med Res.*, 2014.
- Kadi F, Schjerling P, Andersen LL, Charifi N, Madsen JL, Christensen LR, Andersen JL. "The effects of heavy resistance training and detraining on satellite cells in human skeletal muscles." *J Physiol.*, 2004.
- Kakarla R, Hur J, Kim YJ, Kim J, Chwae YJ. "Apoptotic cell-derived exosomes: messages from dying cells." *Experimental & Molecular Medicine*, 2020.
- Kang SH, Lee HA, Kim M, Lee E, Sohn UD, Kim I. "Forkhead box O3 plays a role in skeletal muscle atrophy through expression of E3 ubiquitin ligases MuRF-1 and atrogin-1 in Cushing's syndrome." *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.*, 2017.

- Kardinal CG, Loprinzi CL, Schaid DJ, Hass AC, Dose AM, Athmann LM, Mailliard JA, McCormack GW, Gerstner JB, Schray MF. "A controlled trial of cyproheptadine in cancer patients with anorexia and/or cachexia." *Cancer.*, 1990.
- Kaufman BA, Kolesar JE, Perlman PS, Butow RA. "A function for the mitochondrial chaperonin Hsp60 in the structure and transmission of mitochondrial DNA nucleoids in Saccharomyces cerevisiae." *J Cell Biol.*, 2003.
- Kawaguchi Y, Watanabe A, Shiratori T, Kaku R, Ueda K, Okamoto K, Kataoka Y, Ohshio Y, Hanaoka J. "Myostatin expression in lung cancer induces sarcopenia and promotes cancer progression." *Gen Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.*, 2023.
- Kawamura T, Muraoka I. "Exercise-Induced Oxidative Stress and the Effects of Antioxidant Intake from a Physiological Viewpoint." *Antioxidants (Basel).*, 2018.
- Kelly DP, Scarpulla RC. "Transcriptional regulatory circuits controlling mitochondrial biogenesis and function." *Genes Dev.*, 2004.
- Khal J, Wyke SM, Russell ST, Hine AV, Tisdale MJ. "Expression of the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway and muscle loss in experimental cancer cachexia." *Br J Cancer.*, 2005.
- Kiang JG, Tsokos GC. "Heat shock protein 70 kDa: molecular biology, biochemistry, and physiology." *Pharmacol Ther.*, 1998.
- Kim, Young-Mee, Georgina Mancinelli, Paul Grippo, and Jalees Rehman. "Cancer cachexia is mediated by the suppression of PGC1-alpha expression in the skeletal muscle vasculature." *Cancer Res*, 2021.
- Kitamura T, Kitamura YI, Funahashi Y, Shawber CJ, Castrillon DH, Kollipara R, DePinho RA, Kitajewski J, Accili D. "A Foxo/Notch pathway controls myogenic differentiation and fiber type specification." *J Clin Invest.*, 2007.
- Knutti D, Kralli A. "PGC-1, a versatile coactivator." Trends Endocrinol Metab., 2001.
- Kong Y, Flick MJ, Kudla AJ, Konieczny SF. "Muscle LIM protein promotes myogenesis by enhancing the activity of MyoD." *Mol Cell Biol.*, 1997.
- Krämer-Albers EM, Hill AF. "Extracellular vesicles: interneural shuttles of complex message." *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 2016.
- -Kruger, Maritza. "Antioxidant (Oxiprovin[™]) supplementation and muscle recovery from contusion injury an in vivo study." 2007.
- Krylova SV, Feng D. "The Machinery of Exosomes: Biogenesis, Release, and Uptake." *Int J Mol Sci.*, 2023.
- Kumar D, Shadrach JL, Wagers AJ, Lassar AB. "Id3 is a direct transcriptional target of Pax7 in quiescent satellite cells." *Mol Biol Cell.*, 2009.
- Kvorning T, Kadi F, Schjerling P, Andersen M, Brixen K, Suetta C, Madsen K. "The activity of satellite cells and myonuclei following 8 weeks of strength training in young men with suppressed testosterone levels." *Acta Physiol (Oxf).*, 2015.
- Klampfer L.,. "Cytokines, inflammation and colon cancer." Curr Cancer Drug Targets., 2011.
- Lai KM, Gonzalez M, Poueymirou WT, Kline WO, Na E, Zlotchenko E, Stitt TN, Economides AN, Yancopoulos GD, Glass DJ. "Conditional activation of akt in adult skeletal muscle induces rapid hypertrophy." *Mol Cell Biol.*, 2004.
- Lange S, Pinotsis N, Agarkova I, Ehler E. "The M-band: The underestimated part of the sarcomere." *Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Res.*, 2020.
- Langley B, Thomas M, Bishop A, Sharma M, Gilmour S, Kambadur R. "Myostatin inhibits myoblast differentiation by down-regulating MyoD expression." *J Biol Chem.*, 2002.

- Larsson L, Degens H, Li M, Salviati L, Lee YI, Thompson W, Kirkland JL, Sandri M. "Sarcopenia: Aging-Related Loss of Muscle Mass and Function." *Physiol Rev.*, 2019.
- Lee M, Oikawa S, Ushida T, Suzuki K, Akimoto T. "Effects of Exercise Training on Growth and Differentiation Factor 11 Expression in Aged Mice." *Front Physiol.*, 2019.
- Legerlotz K, Smith HK. "Role of MyoD in denervated, disused, and exercised muscle." *Muscle Nerve.*, 2008.
- Li YP, Chen Y, Li AS, Reid MB. "Hydrogen peroxide stimulates ubiquitin-conjugating activity and expression of genes for specific E2 and E3 proteins in skeletal muscle myotubes." *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol.*, 2003.
- Liang H, Ward WF. "PGC-1alpha: a key regulator of energy metabolism." *Adv Physiol Educ.*, 2006.
- Liesa M, Shirihai OS. "Mitochondrial dynamics in the regulation of nutrient utilization and energy expenditure." *Cell Metab.*, 2018.
- Lim S, Brown JL, Washington TA, Greene NP. "Development and progression of cancer cachexia: Perspectives from bench to bedside." *Sports Med Health Sci.*, 2020.
- Lima LG, Oliveira AS, Campos LC, Bonamino M, Chammas R, Werneck C, Vicente CP, Barcinski MA, Petersen LC, Monteiro RQ. "Malignant transformation in melanocytes is associated with increased production of procoagulant microvesicles. Thromb Haemost." 2011.
- Lin J, Handschin C, Spiegelman BM. "Metabolic control through the PGC-1 family of transcription coactivators." *Cell Metab.*, 2005.
- Lin Z., Madan D., Rye H.S. "GroELstimulates protein folding through forced unfolding." *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.*, 2008.
- Lira VA, Benton CR, Yan Z, Bonen A. "PGC-1alpha regulation by exercise training and its influences on muscle function and insulin sensitivity." *AmJ Physiol Endocrinol Metab.*, 2010.
- Liu CM, Yang Z, Liu CW, Wang R, Tien P, Dale R, Sun LQ. "Effect of RNA oligonucleotide targeting Foxo-1 on muscle growth in normal and cancer cachexia mice." *Cancer Gene Ther.*, 2007.
- Liu Y, Steinacker JM. "Changes in skeletal muscle heat shock proteins: pathological significance." *Front Biosci.*, 2001.
- Lokireddy S, Wijesoma IW, Bonala S, Wei M, Sze SK, McFarlane C, Kambadur R, Sharma. "Myostatinis a noveltumoral factor that induces cancer cachexia." *Biochem J.*, 2015.
- Loprinzi CL, Kugler JW, Sloan JA, Mailliard JA, Krook JE, Wilwerding MB, Rowland KM Jr, Camoriano JK, Novotny PJ, Christensen BJ. "Randomized comparison of megestrol acetate versus dexamethasone versus fluoxymesterone for the treatment of cancer anorexia/cachexia." *J Clin Oncol.*, 1999.
- Buckingham M.,. "Myogenic progenitor cells and skeletal myogenesis in vertebrates." *Curr Opin Genet Dev.*, 2006.
- Reznik M.,. "Thymidine-3H uptake by satellite cells of regenerating skeletal muscle." *J Cell Biol.*, 1969.
- Macaluso F, Myburgh KH. "Current evidence that exercise can increase the number of adult stem cells." *J Muscle Res Cell Motil.*, 2012.
- Maccio A, Sanna E, Neri M, Oppi S, Madeddu C. "Cachexia as Evidence of the Mechanisms of Resistance and Tolerance during the Evolution of Cancer Disease." *Int J Mol Sci.*, 2021.

- Manini TM, Yarrow JF, Buford TW, Clark BC, Conover CF, Borst SE. "Growth hormone responses to acute resistance exercise with vascular restriction in young and old men." *Growth Horm IGF Res.*, 2012.
- Mattson JP, Ross CR, Kilgore JL, Musch TI. "Induction of mitochondrial stress proteins following treadmill running." *Med Sci Sports Exerc.*, 2000.
- McCroskery S, Thomas M, Maxwell L, Sharma M, Kambadur R. "Myostatin negatively regulates satellite cell activation and self-renewal." *J Cell Biol.*, 2003.
- McFarlane C, Plummer E, Thomas M, Hennebry A, Ashby M, Ling N, Smith H, Sharma M, Kambadur R. "Myostatin induces cachexia by activating the ubiquitin proteolytic system through an NF-kappaB-independent, FoxO1-dependent mechanism." *J Cell Physiol.*, 2006.
- McKay BR, Ogborn DI, Bellamy LM, Tarnopolsky MA, Parise G. "Myostatin is associated with age-related human muscle stem cell dysfunction." *FASEB J.*, 2012.
- McPherron AC, Lawler AM, Lee SJ. "Regulation of skeletal muscle mass in mice by a new TGFbeta superfamily member." *Nature.*, 1997.
- McPherron AC, Lee SJ. "Suppression of body fat accumulation in myostatin-deficient mice." *J Clin Invest.*, 2002.
- Michael Hockel, Peter Vaupel. "Tumor hypoxia: definitions and current clinical, biologic, and molecular aspects." *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 2001.
- MIKOŁAJ P. ZABOROWSKI, LEONORA BALAJ, XANDRAO. BREAKEFIELD, AND CHARLES P. LA. "Extracellular Vesicles: Composition, Biological Relevance, and Methods of Study." 2015.
- Minciacchi VR, Freeman MR, Di Vizio D. "Extracellular vesicles in cancer: exosomes, microvesicles and the emerging role of large oncosomes." *Semin Cell Dev Biol.*, 2015.
- Mirault ME, Goldschmidt-Clermont M, Moran L, Arrigo AP, Tissières A. "The effect of heat shock on gene expression in Drosophila melanogaster." *Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol.*, 1978.
- MJ., Schlesinger. "Heat shock proteins." J Biol Chem., 1990.
- ML, Law. "Cancer cachexia: Pathophysiology and association with cancer-related pain." *Front Pain Res (Lausanne).*, 2022.
- Mootha VK, Lindgren CM, Eriksson KF, Subramanian A, Sihag S, Lehar J, Puigserver P, Carlsson E, Ridderstråle M, Laurila E, Houstis N, Daly MJ, Patterson N, Mesirov JP, Golub TR, Tamayo P, Spiegelman B, Lander ES, Hirschhorn JN, Altshuler D, Groop LC. "PGC-1alpha-responsive genes involved in oxidative phosphorylation are coordinately downregulated in human diabetes." *Nat Genet.*, 2003.
- Morena da Silva F, Rosa-Caldwell ME, Schrems ER, Martinez L, Amos MG, Lim S, Cabrera AR, Brown JL, Washington TA, Greene NP. "PGC-1α overexpression is not sufficient to mitigate cancer cachexia in either male or female mice." *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab.*, 2022.
- Morton J.P., Maclaren D.P., Cable N.T., Campbell I.T., Evans L., Kayani A.C., McArdle A., Drust B. "Trained men display increased basal heat shock protein content of skeletal muscle." *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.*, 2008.
- Moss FP, Leblond CP. "Nature of dividing nuclei in skeletal muscle of growing rats." *J Cell Biol.*, 1970.
- Moura C.S., Lollo P.C., Morato P.N., Nisishima L.H., Carneiro E.M., Amaya-Farfan J. "Whey protein hydrolysate enhances HSP90 but does not alter HSP60 and HSP25 in skeletal muscle of rats." *PLoS ONE.*, 2014.

- Mukherjee K., Conway de Macario E., Macario A.J., Brocchieri L. "Chaperonin genes on the rise: New divergent classes and intense duplication in human and other vertebrate genomes." *BMC Evol. Biol.*, 2010.
- Muralidharan-Chari V., Clancy J, Plou C, Romao M, Chavrier P, Raposo G, D'Souza-Schorey C. "ARF6-regulated shedding of tumor-cell derived plasma membrane microvesicles." *International Society on Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, 2009.
- MusolinoV, Palus S, Tschirner A, Drescher C, Gliozzi M, Carresi C, Vitale C, Muscoli C, Doehner W, von Haehling S, Anker SD, Mollace V, Springer J. "Megestrol acetate improves cardiac function in a model of cancer cachexia-induced cardiomyopathy by autophagic modulation." *J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle.*, 2016.
- N., Ishii. "GroEL and the GroEL-GroES Complex." Sub Cell. Biochem., 2017.
- Naito T, Uchino J, Kojima T, Matano Y, Minato K, Tanaka K, Mizukami T, Atagi S, Higashiguchi T, Muro K, Takayama K, Furuse J, Morishima E, Takiguchi T, Tamura K. "A multicenter, open-label, single-arm study of an amorelin (ONO-7643) in patients with cancer cachexia and low body mass index." *Cancer*, 2022.
- Neri T, Celi A, Tinè M, Bernardinello N, Cosio MG, Saetta M, Nieri D, Bazzan E. "The Emerging Role of Extracellular Vesicles Detected in different biological fluids in COPD." *Int. J. Mol. Sci*, 2022.
- Ni J, Zhang L. "Cancer Cachexia: Definition, Staging, and Emerging Treatments." *Cancer Manag Res.*, 2020.
- Nisemblat S., Parnas A., Yaniv O., Azem A., Frolow F. "Crystallization and structure determination of a symmetrical 'football' complex of the mammalian mitochondrial Hsp60-Hsp10 chaperonins." *Acta Crystallogr. Sect. F Struct. Biol. Commun.*, 2014.
- Nishikawa H, Goto M, Fukunishi S, Asai A, Nishiguchi S, Higuchi K. "Cancer Cachexia: Its Mechanism and Clinical Significance." *Int J Mol*, 2021.
- Nishimura Y, Musa I, Holm L, Lai YC. "Recent advances in measuring and understanding the regulation of exercise-mediated protein degradation in skeletal muscle." *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol.*, 2021.
- Noble EG, Milne KJ, Melling CW. "Heat shock proteins and exercise: a primer." *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab.*, 2008.
- Nussbaum EL, Locke M. "Heat shock protein expression in rat skeletal muscle after repeated applications of pulsed and continuous ultrasound." *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.*, 2007.
- Ogasawara R, Jensen TE, Goodman CA, Hornberger TA. "Resistance Exercise-Induced Hypertrophy: A Potential Role for Rapamycin-Insensitive mTOR." *Exerc Sport Sci Rev.*, 2019.
- Ogata T., Oishi Y., Higashida K., Higuchi M., Muraoka I. "Prolonged exercise training induces long-termenhancement of HSP70 expression in rat plantaris muscle." *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.*, 2009.
- Olmos Y, Valle I, Borniquel S, Tierrez A, Soria E, Lamas S, Monsalve M. "Mutual dependence of Foxo3a and PGC-11 pha in the induction of oxidative stress genes." *J Biol Chem.*, 2009.
- O'Neill BT, Bhardwaj G, Penniman CM, Krumpoch MT, Suarez Beltran PA, Klaus K, Poro K, Li M, Pan H, Dreyfuss JM, Nair KS, Kahn CR. "FoxO Transcription Factors Are Critical Regulators of Diabetes-Related Muscle Atrophy." *Diabetes.*, 2019.
- O'Neill BT, Lee KY, Klaus K, Softic S, Krumpoch MT, Fentz J, Stanford KI, Robinson MM, Cai W, Kleinridders A, Pereira RO, Hirshman MF, Abel ED, Accili D, Goodyear LJ, Nair KS, Kahn CR. "Insulin and IGF-1 receptors regulate FoxO-mediated signaling in muscle proteostasis." *J Clin Invest.*, 2016.

- Pallafacchina G, Calabria E, Serrano AL, Kalhovde JM, Schiaffino S. "A protein kinase Bdependent and rapamycin-sensitive pathway controls skeletal muscle growth but not fiber type specification." *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*., 2002.
- Parker MH, Seale P, Rudnicki MA. "Looking back to the embryo: defining transcriptional networks in adult myogenesis." *Nat Rev Genet.*, 2003.
- Pedersen BK, Hoffman-Goetz L. "Exercise and the immune system: regulation, integration, and adaptation." *Physiol Rev.*, 2000.
- Peixotoda Silva S, Santos JMO, Costa E Silva MP, Gil da Costa RM, Medeiros R. "Cancer cachexia and its pathophysiology: links with sarcopenia, anorexia and asthenia." *J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle.*, 2020.
- Peng XD, Xu PZ, Chen ML, Hahn-Windgassen A, Skeen J, Jacobs J, Sundararajan D, Chen WS, Crawford SE, Coleman KG, Hay N. "Dwarfism, impaired skin development, skeletal muscle atrophy, delayed bone development, and impeded adipogenesis in mice lacking Akt1 and Akt2." *Genes Dev.*, 2003.
- Pigna E, Berardi E, Aulino P, Rizzuto E, Zampieri S, Carraro U, Kern H, Merigliano S, Gruppo M, Mericskay M, Li Z, Rocchi M, Barone R, Macaluso F, Di Felice V, Adamo S, Coletti D, Moresi V. "Aerobic Exercise and Pharmacological Treatments Counteract Cachexia by Modulating Autophagy in Colon Cancer." Sci Rep., 2016.
- Pockley AG, Henderson B. "Extracellular cell stress (heat shock) proteins-immune responses and disease: an overview." *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci.*, 2018.
- Poortmans JR, Carpentier A, Pereira-Lancha LO, Lancha A Jr. "Protein turnover, amino acid requirements and recommendations for athletes and active populations." *Braz J Med Biol Res.* 1, 2012.
- Powers SK, Goldstein E, Schrager M, Ji LL. "Exercise Training and Skeletal Muscle Antioxidant Enzymes: An Update." *Antioxidants (Basel)*, 2022.
- Powers SK, Kavazis AN, McClung JM. "Oxidative stress and disuse muscle atrophy." *J Appl Physiol* (1985)., 2007.
- PS., Zammit. "Function of the myogenic regulatory factors Myf5, MyoD, Myogenin and MRF4 in skeletal muscle, satellite cells and regenerative myogenesis." *Semin Cell Dev Biol.*, 2017.
- Puigserver P, Spiegelman BM. "Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma coactivator 1 alpha (PGC-1 alpha): transcriptional coactivator and metabolic regulator." *Endocr Rev.*, 2003.
- Puppa MJ, Gao S, Narsale AA, Carson JA. "Skeletal muscle glycoprotein 130's role in Lewis lung carcinoma-induced cachexia." *FASEB J.*, 2014.
- Rahmati M, Shariatzadeh Joneydi M, Koyanagi A, Yang G, Ji B, Won Lee S, Keon Yon D, Smith L, Il Shin J, Li Y. "Resistance training restores skeletal muscle atrophy and satellite cell content in an animal model of Alzheimer's disease." *Sci Rep.*, 2023.
- Raj D, Brash DE, Grossman D. "Keratinocyte Apoptosis in Epidermal Development and Disease." *J Invest Dermatol*, 2006.
- Rappa F, Farina F, Zummo G, David S, Campanella C, Carini F, Tomasello G, Damiani P, Cappello F, DE Macario EC, Macario AJ. "HSP-molecular chaperones in cancer biogenesis and tumor therapy: an overview." *Anticancer Res.*, 2012.
- Ravi Shah, M.D., Tushar Patel, M.B., Ch.B., and Jane E. Freedman, M.D. "Circulating Extracellular Vesicles in Human Disease." *The new england journal of medicine*, 2018.
- Reed SA, Sandesara PB, Senf SM, Judge AR. "Inhibition of FoxO transcriptional activity prevents muscle fiber atrophy during cachexia and induces hypertrophy." *FASEB J.*, 2012.

- Rhind SG, Gannon GA, Shephard RJ, Shek PN. "Indomethacin modulates circulating cytokine responses to strenuous exercise in humans." *Cytokine.*, 2002.
- Rikkert LG, Nieuwland R, Terstappen LWMM. "Quality of extracellular vesicle images by transmission electron microscopy is operator and protocol dependent." *JOURNAL OF EXTRACELLULAR VESICLES*, 2019.
- Ritossa, F. "F. Ritossa (1962). A new puffing pattern induced by temperature shock and DNP in drosophila." (Experientia) n.d.
- Rodriguez A, Von Salzen D, Holguin BA, Bernal RA. "Complex Destabilization in the Mitochondrial Chaperonin Hsp60 Leads to Disease." *Front Mol Biosci.*, 2020.
- RudnickiMA, Jaenisch R. "The MyoD family of transcription factors and skeletal myogenesis." *Bioessays.*, 1995.
- Ruiz Garcia V, López-Briz E, Carbonell Sanchis R, Gonzalvez Perales JL, Bort-Marti S. "Megestrol acetate for treatment of anorexia-cachexia syndrome." *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.*, 2013.
- Sahu R, Kaushik S, Clement CC, Cannizzo ES, Scharf B, Follenzi A, Potolicchio I, Nieves E, Cuervo AM, Santambrogio L. "Microautophagy of cytosolic proteins by late endosomes." *Dev Cell.*, 2011.
- Sailani MR, Halling JF, Møller HD, Lee H, Plomgaard P, Pilegaard H, Snyder MP, Regenberg B. "Lifelong physical activity is associated with promoter hypomethylation of genes involved in metabolism, myogenesis, contractile properties and oxidative stress resistance in aged human skeletal muscle." *Sci Rep.*, 2019.
- Sandri M, Lin J, Handschin C, Yang W, Arany ZP, Lecker SH, Goldberg AL, Spiegelman BM. "PGC-1alpha protects skeletal muscle from atrophy by suppressing FoxO3 action and atrophy-specific gene transcription." *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*., 2006.
- Sandri M, Sandri C, Gilbert A, Skurk C, Calabria E, Picard A, Walsh K, Schiaffino S, Lecker SH, Goldberg AL. "Foxo transcription factors induce the atrophy-related ubiquitin ligase atrogin-1 and cause skeletal muscle atrophy." *Cell*, 2004.
- Sanz-Ros J, Mas-Bargues C, Romero-García N, Huete-Acevedo J, Dromant M, Borrás C. "Extracellular Vesicles as Therapeutic Resources in the Clinical Environment." *Int J Mol Sci.*, 2023.
- Sartori R, Romanello V, Sandri M. "Mechanisms of muscle atrophy and hypertrophy: implications in health and disease." *Nat Commun.*, 2021.
- SC., Bodine. "The role of mTORC1 in the regulation of skeletal muscle mass." Fac Rev., 2022.
- Schiaffino S, Dyar KA, Ciciliot S, Blaauw B, Sandri M. "Mechanisms regulating skeletal muscle growth and atrophy." *FEBS J.*, 2013.
- Schmidt SF, Rohm M, Herzig S, Berriel Diaz M. "Cancer Cachexia: More Than Skeletal Muscle Wasting." *Trends Cancer.*, 2018.
- Scicchitano BM, Dobrowolny G, Sica G, Musarò A. "Molecular Insights into Muscle Homeostasis, Atrophy and Wasting." *Curr Genomics.*, 2018.
- Shamas-Din A, Kale J, Leber B, Andrews DW. "Mechanisms of Action of Bcl-2 Family Proteins." *Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory*, 2013.
- Shang F, Gong X, Taylor A. "Activity of ubiquitin-dependent pathway in response to oxidative stress. Ubiquitin-activating enzyme is transiently up-regulated." *J Biol Chem.*, 1997.
- Shirai T, Aoki Y, Takeda K, Takemasa T. "The order of concurrent training affects mTOR signaling but not mitochondrial biogenesis in mouse skeletal muscle." *Physiol Rep.*, 2020.

- Silver JS, Günay KA, Cutler AA, Vogler TO, Brown TE, Pawlikowski BT, Bednarski OJ, Bannister KL, Rogowski CJ, Mckay AG, DelRio FW, Olwin BB, Anseth KS. "Injury-mediated stiffening persistently activates muscle stem cells through YAP and TAZ mechanotransduction." *Sci Adv.*, 2021.
- Simpson R.J., Justin WE Lim, Robert L Moritz & Suresh Mathivanan. "Exosomes: proteomic insights and diagnostic potential." *Expert Rev Proteom.*, 2009.
- Simpson RJ., Kalra H, Mathivanan S. "ExoCarta as a resource for exosomal research." *J Extracell Vesicles.*, 2012.
- Smith CK 2nd, Janney MJ, Allen RE. "Temporal expression of myogenic regulatory genes during activation, proliferation, and differentiation of rat skeletal muscle satellite cells." *J Cell Physiol.*, 1994.
- Snijders T, Verdijk LB, McKay BR, Smeets JS, van Kranenburg J, Groen BB, Parise G, Greenhaff P, van Loon LJ. "Acute dietary protein intake restriction is associated with changes in myostatin expression after a single bout of resistance exercise in healthy young men." *J Nutr.*, 2014.
- Southgate RJ, Neill B, Prelovsek O, El-Osta A, Kamei Y, Miura S, Ezaki O, McLoughlin TJ, Zhang W, Unterman TG, Febbraio MA. "FOXO1 regulates the expression of 4E-BP1 and inhibits mTOR signaling in mammalian skeletal muscle." *J Biol Chem.*, 2009.
- Straight CR, Fedewa MV, Toth MJ, Miller MS. "Improvements in skeletal muscle fiber size with resistance training are age-dependent in older adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis." *J Appl Physiol*, (1985).
- Stuart CA, Stone WL, Howell ME, Brannon MF, Hall HK, Gibson AL, Stone MH. "Stuart CA, Stone WL, Howell ME, Brannon MF, Hall HK, Gibson AL, Stone MH." *Myosin content of individual human muscle fibers isolated by laser capture microdissection.*, Am J Physiol Cell Physiol.: 2016.
- Stubbins R, Bernicker EH, Quigley EMM. "Cancer cachexia: a multifactoral disease that needs a multimodal approach." *Curr Opin Gastroenterol.*, 2020.
- Suchorska WM, Lach MS. "The role of exosomes in tumor progression and metastasis (Review)." Oncol Rep., 2016.
- T.R., Samelman. "Heat shock protein expression is increased in cardiac and skeletal muscles of Fischer 344 rats after endurance training." *Exp. Physiol.*, 2000.
- Taylor WE, Bhasin S, Artaza J, Byhower F, Azam M, Willard DH Jr, Kull FC Jr, Gonzalez-Cadavid N. "Myostatin inhibits cell proliferation and protein synthesis in C2C12 muscle cells." *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.*, 2001.
- Tazi E, Errihani H. "Treatment of cachexia in oncology." Indian J Palliat Care., 2010.
- Thirupathi A, Pinho RA, Ugbolue UC, He Y, Meng Y, Gu Y. "Effect of Running Exercise on Oxidative Stress Biomarkers: A Systematic Review." *Front Physiol.*, 2021.
- Tu Y, Chen C, Pan J, Xu J, Zhou ZG, Wang CY. "Ubiquitin Proteasome Pathway (UPP) in the regulation of cell cycle control and DNA damage repair and its implication in tumorigenesis." *Int J Clin Exp Pathol.*, 2012.
- Ullah, Leila Bahmani and Mujib. "Different Sourced Extracellular Vesicles and Their Potential Applications in Clinical Treatments." *Cells*, 2022.
- Ultimo S, Zauli G, Martelli AM, Vitale M, McCubrey JA, Capitani S, Neri LM. "Influence of physical exercise on microRNAs in skeletal muscle regeneration, aging and diseases." *Oncotarget.*, 2018.

Vainshtein A, Sandri M. "Signaling Pathways That Control Muscle Mass." Int J Mol Sci., 2020.

- ValadiH., Karin Ekstrom, Apostolos Bossios, Margareta Sjostrand, James J Lee & Jan O Lotvall. "Exosome-mediated transfer of mRNAs and microRNAs is a novel mechanism of genetic exchange between cells." *Nature Cell Biology*, 2007.
- VanderVeen BN, Fix DK, Carson JA. "Disrupted Skeletal Muscle Mitochondrial Dynamics, Mitophagy, and Biogenesis during Cancer Cachexia: A Role for Inflammation." *Oxid Med Cell Longev.*, 2017.
- Venojärvi M, Kvist M, Jozsa L, Kalimo H, Hänninen O, Atalay M. "Skeletal muscle HSP expression in response to immobilization and remobilization." *Int J Sports Med.*, 2007.
- Victoria Shpacovitch, Roland Hergenroder. "Optical and surface plasmonic approaches to characterize extracellular vesicles. A review." *Elsevier*, 2017.
- Viitanen P.V., Lorimer G.H., Seetharam R., Gupta R.S., Oppenheim J., Thomas J.O., Cowan N.J. "Mammalian mitochondrial chaperonin 60 functions as a single toroidal ring." *J. Biol. Chem.*, 1992.
- Vilasi S., Bulone D., Caruso Bavisotto C., Campanella C., Marino Gammazza A., San Biagio P.L., Cappello F., Conway de Macario E., Macario A.J.L. "Chaperonin of Group I: Oligomeric Spectrum and Biochemical and Biological Implications." *Front. Mol. Biosci.*, 2017.
- VingrenJL, KraemerWJ, Ratamess NA, Anderson JM, Volek JS, Maresh CM. "Testosterone physiology in resistance exercise and training: the up-stream regulatory elements." *Sports Med.*, 2010.
- Volpi E, Nazemi R, Fujita S. "Muscle tissue changes with aging." *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care.*, 2004.
- Voos W, Röttgers K. "Molecular chaperones as essential mediators of mitochondrial biogenesis." *Biochim Biophys Acta.*, 2002.
- Voos W., "Chaperone-protease networks in mitochondrial protein homeostasis." *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.*, 2013.
- Waldenstrom A, Gennebäck N, Hellman U, Ronquist G. "Cardiomyocyte Microvesicles Contain DNA/RNA and Convey Biological Messages to Target Cells." *Plos One*, 2012.
- Wan Q, Yuan Q, Zhao R, Shen X, Chen Y, Li T, Song Y. "Prognostic value of cachexia index in patients with colorectal cancer: A retrospective study." *Front Oncol.*, 2022.
- WebbAE, Brunet A. "FOXO transcription factors: key regulators of cellular quality control." *Trends Biochem Sci.*, 2014.
- Westbury LD, Beaudart C, Bruyère O, Cauley JA, Cawthon P, Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Curtis EM, Ensrud K, Fielding RA, Johansson H, Kanis JA, Karlsson MK, Lane NE, Lengelé L, Lorentzon M, McCloskey E, Mellström D, Newman AB, Ohlsson C, Orwoll E, Reginster JY, Ribom.
 "International Musculoskeletal Ageing Network. Recent sarcopenia definitions-prevalence, agreement and mortality associations among men: Findings from population-based cohorts." *J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle.*, 2023.
- White JP, Baynes JW, Welle SL, Kostek MC, Matesic LE, Sato S, Carson JA. "The regulation of skeletal muscle protein turnover during the progression of cancer cachexia in the Apc(Min/+) mouse." *PLoS One.*, 2011.
- White JP, Puppa MJ, Gao S, Sato S, Welle SL, Carson JA. "Muscle mTORC1 suppression by IL-6 during cancer cachexia: a role for AMPK." *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.*, 2013.
- Whitley D, Goldberg SP, Jordan WD. "Heat shock proteins: a review of the molecular chaperones." *J Vasc Surg.*, 1999.

- Wolf I, Sadetzki S, Kanety H, Kundel Y, Pariente C, Epstein N, Oberman B, Catane R, Kaufman B, Shimon I. "Adiponectin, ghrelin, and leptin in cancer cachexia in breast and colon cancer patients." *Cancer.*, 2006.
- Wu Z, Jin H, Gu Y. "[The effect of MyoD family proteins on muscular atrophy induced by brachial plexus injury in rats]." *Zhonghua Yi Xue Za Zhi. 2002*, 2002.
- Xu M, Chen X, Chen D, Yu B, Huang Z. "FoxO1: a novel insight into its molecular mechanisms in the regulation of skeletal muscle differentiation and fiber type specification." *Oncotarget.*, 2017.
- Yan X, Shi Q, Bracher A, Miličić G, Singh AK, Hartl FU, Hayer-Hartl M. "GroEL Ring Separation and Exchange in the Chaperonin Reaction." *Cell.*, 2018.
- Yáñez-Mó M, Siljander PR, Andreu Z, Zavec AB, Borràs FE, Buzas EI, Buzas K, Casal E, Cappello F, CarvalhoJ, Colás E, Cordeiro-da Silva A, Fais S, Falcon-Perez JM, Ghobrial IM, Giebel B, Gimona M, Graner M, Gursel I, Gursel M, Heegaard NH, Hendrix A, Kier. "Biological properties of extracellular vesicles and their physiological functions." *Journal of Extracellular Vesicles*, 2015.
- Yang W, Huang J, Wu H, Wang Y, Du Z, Ling Y, Wang W, Wu Q, Gao W. "Molecular mechanisms of cancer cachexia-induced muscle atrophy." *Mol Med Rep.*, 2020.
- Yoshida T, Delafontaine P. "Mechanisms of Cachexia in Chronic Disease States." *Am J Med Sci.*, 2015.
- YX Wang, NC Chang, and MA Rudnicki. "Pathobiology of Human Disease. Skeletal Muscle Remodeling and Regeneration." *Elsevier*, 2014.
- Zhang L, Tang H, Kou Y, Li R, Zheng Y, Wang Q, Zhou X, Jin L. "MG132-mediated inhibition of the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway ameliorates cancer cachexia." *J Cancer Res Clin Oncol.*, 2013.
- Zhao Z, Wijerathne H, Godwin AK, Soper SA. "Isolation and analysis methods of extracellular vesicles (EVs)." 2021.
- Zhou S, Han L, Wu Z. A Long Journey before Cycling:. "Regulation of Quiescence Exit in Adult Muscle Satellite Cells." *Int J Mol Sci.*, 2022.
- Zunner BEM, Wachsmuth NB, Eckstein ML, Scherl L, Schierbauer JR, Haupt S, Stumpf C, Reusch L, Moser O. "Myokines and Resistance Training: A Narrative Review." *Int J Mol Sci.*, 2022.